การวิเคราะห์ระบบการต้านออกซิเคชั่นในข้าว Oryza sativa L. พันธุ์ขาวคอกมะลิ 105 ทรานสเจ นิกที่มียืน OsCaM1-1 แสดงออกเกินปกติภายใต้ความเครียดจากความเก็ม



บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository (CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the University Graduate School.

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีวเคมีและชีววิทยาโมเลกุล ภาควิชาชีวเคมี คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2557 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

ANALYSIS OF ANTIOXIDANT SYSTEM IN TRANSGENIC 'KDML105' RICE Oryza sativa L. OVEREXPRESSING OsCaM1-1 UNDER SALINITY STRESS

Miss Taviporn Kaewneramit



จุฬาสงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Department of Biochemistry Faculty of Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2014 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	ANALYSIS OF ANTIOXIDANT SYSTEM IN TRANSGENIC 'KDML105' RICE <i>Oryza sativa</i> L. OVEREXPRESSING <i>OsCaM1-1</i> UNDER SALINITY STRESS
By	Miss Taviporn Kaewneramit
Field of Study	Biochemistry and Molecular Biology
Thesis Advisor	Nuchanat Wutipraditkul

Accepted by the Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

		Dean of the Faculty of Science
	(Supot Hannongbua)	
THESIS	COMMITTEE	
		Chairman
	(Anchalee Tassanakajon)	
	(Sumo Suma)	Thesis Advisor
	(Nuchanat Wutipraditkul)	
		Examiner
	(Teerapong Buaboocha)	
	จหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยา	Examiner
	(Manchumas Prousoontorn)	
	UNDERLONGROUM UNIVE	External Examiner
	(Kittisak Yokthongwattana)	

ทวิพร แก้วเนรมิตร : การวิเคราะห์ระบบการด้านออกซิเดชันในข้าว Oryza sativa L. พันธุ์ขาวดอกมะลิ 105 ทรานสเจนิกที่มียืน OsCaM1-1 แสดงออกเกินปกติภายใต้ ความเครียดจากความเก็ม (ANALYSIS OF ANTIOXIDANT SYSTEM IN TRANSGENIC 'KDML105' RICE Oryza sativa L. OVEREXPRESSING OsCaM1-1 UNDER SALINITY STRESS) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก: นุชนาถ วุฒิประดิษฐกุล, 111 หน้า.

ในการศึกษาพารามิเตอร์ต่างๆ (การเจริญเติบโต, การตอบสนองทางกายภาพและทาง ชีวเคมี) ที่เกี่ยวข้องกับการปรับปรุงการทนเค็มในข้าวทรานสเจนิกที่มีการแสดงออกเกินปกติของ ยืน OsCaM1-1, ที่เติบโตในภาวะเครียดจากความเค็มเทียบกับข้าวสายพันธุ์ควบคุม และข้าวขาว ดอกมะลิ 105 สายพันธุ์ปกติ ภายหลังจากได้รับความเครียดจากความเค็ม (โซเดียมคลอไรด์ความ เข้มข้น 150 มิลลิโมลาร์) เป็นเวลา 3 วัน พบว่าข้าวทรานสเจนิกที่มีการแสดงออกเกินปกติของยืน OsCaM1-1 มีปริมาณรงควัตถุที่ใช้ในการสังเคราะห์แสง (คลอโรฟิลล์ a, b และแคโรทีนอยค์), ฤทธิ์การต้านอนุมูลอิสระ DPPH, อัตราการเจิญเติบโตสัมพัทธ์ (RGR) และแอกติวิตีของเอนไซม์ ซูเปอร์ออกไซค์ดิสมิวเทส (SOD), คาทาเลส (CAT), แอสคอร์เบสเพอร์ออกซิเดส (APX) และก ถูตาไธโอนรีคักเตส (GR) เพิ่มขึ้นสูงกว่าข้าวสายพันธุ์ควบคุมและสายพันธุ์ปกติ ในขณะที่การ เกิดปฏิกิริยาออกซิเดชันของลิพิค และปริมาณน้ำสัมพัทธ์ (RWC) ลดลง ดังนั้นข้าวทรานสเจนิกที่ มีการแสดงออกเกินปกติของยีน OsCaM1-1 อาจลดหรือป้องกันความเสียหายจากภาวะ ออกซิเดชันจากความเก็มโดยการเพิ่มประสิทธิภาพระบบการด้านอนุมูลอิสระ

> จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University

ภาควิชา ชีวเคมี สาขาวิชา ชีวเคมีและชีววิทยาโมเลกุล ปีการศึกษา 2557

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	

5472822123 : MAJOR BIOCHEMISTRY AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY KEYWORDS: ORYZA SATIVA L. / CALMODULIN / SALT STRESS / ANTIOXIDANT ENZYMES / OSCAM1-1

> TAVIPORN KAEWNERAMIT: ANALYSIS OF ANTIOXIDANT SYSTEM IN TRANSGENIC 'KDML105' RICE *Oryza sativa* L. OVEREXPRESSING *OsCaM1-1* UNDER SALINITY STRESS. ADVISOR: NUCHANAT WUTIPRADITKUL, 111 pp.

To investigate various parameters (growth, physiological and biochemical responses) associated with improved tolerance under salt stress in the transgenic rice overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene, the control and the wild-type KDML105 differing in salt tolerance, comparatively. Three days after exposure to salt stress (150 mM NaCl), the results showed a greater increase in the photosynthetic pigment (chlorophyll *a*, *b* and carotenoid) contents, DPPH scavenging activity, relative growth rate (RGR), and the activities of superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and glutathione reductase (GR) in the transgenic rice plants than the control and wild-type, whereas lipid peroxidation and relative water content (RWC) showe decreased. Thus, the transgenic rice overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene might reduce or protect salt-induced oxidative damage by enhancing antioxidant system.

จุฬาลงกรณีมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Department: Biochemistry Field of Study: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Academic Year: 2014

Student's Signature	
Advisor's Signature	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is a genuine pleasure to express my deep sense of thanks and gratitude to my thesis advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Nuchanat Wutipraditkul for her invaluable guidance, constant encouragement, constructive comments, sympathetic attitude and immense motivation, which has sustained my efforts at all stages of this thesis work.

I owe a deep sense of gratitude to Associate Professor Dr. Teerapong Buaboocha for whole hearted co-operation and guidance. I am also thankful for his encouragement and for all facilities that he provided for my work.

I would like to thank the "Graduate School Thesis Grant, Chulalongkorn University" for financially supporting. I also thank all members of 707, 708 for lending a helping hand whenever needed, sharing great time in laboratory, and supporting me through this entire process. I would never forget beautiful moments I shared with you all.

Finally, my deepest gratitude goes to my family for their unflagging love and unconditional support throughout my life and my studies. You made me live the most unique, magic and carefree childhood that has made me who I am now.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

CONTENTS

	Page
THAI ABSTRACT	iv
ENGLISH ABSTRACT	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
CONTENTS	vii
List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xi
CHAPTER I	1
INTRODUCTION	1
Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	2
Physiological and Biochemical Mechanisms of Salt Tolerance	10
Ion Homeostasis and Salt Tolerance	19
Roles of Ca ²⁺ in plants	21
Ca ²⁺ -modulated proteins	23
Calmodulin	24
CaM and plant responses to environmental stimuli	26
Confirmation of the over-expression level of <i>OsCaM1-1</i> gene in transg	genic rice
	23
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Materials	
2.1.1 Rice seeds	
2.1.3 Instruments	
2.1.4 Inventory supplies	32
2.1.5 Chemicals and reagents	32
2.2 Growth conditions and treatments	35
2.3 Measurement of H ₂ O ₂ content	36
2.4 Antioxidant enzyme extracts and assay	
2.4.1 Superoxide dismutase activity	37

	Page
2.4.2 Catalase activity	
2.4.3 Ascorbate peroxidase activity	
2.4.4 Glutathione reductase activity	
2.5 Measurement of photosynthetic pigments	
2.6 Measurement of lipid peroxidation	
2.7 Measurement of DPPH radical scavenging activity	40
2.8 Growth measurement	41
2.9 Measurement of relative growth rate (RGR)	41
2.10 Measurement of relative water content (RWC)	41
2.11 Protein content	42
2.12 Statistical analysis	42
CHAPTER III	43
RESULTS	43
3.1 Effect of salt stress on H ₂ O ₂ content	43
3.2 Effect of salt stress on antioxidant enzymes	45
3.3 Effect of salt stress on photosynthetic pigments	49
3.4 Effect of salt stress on lipid peroxidation	52
3.5 Effect of salt stress on DPPH radical scavenging activity	54
3.6 Effect of salt stress on growth	56
3.7 Effect of salt stress on relative growth rate	59
3.8 Effect of salt stress on relative water content	62
CHAPTER IV	64
DISCUSSION	64
CHAPTER V	70
CONCLUSIONS	70
REFERENCES	71
APPENDICES	87
APPENDIX A	
APPENDIX B	98

	Page
VITA	



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

List of Tables

		Page
Table 1.1	Key reactive oxygen species (ROS), their properties, and main	
	scavenging systems in plant cells	5
Table 1.2	Major ROS scavenging antioxidant enzymes.	14



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

List of Figures

	Pa	.ge
Figure 1.1	Schematic representation of generation of reactive oxygen species	
	(ROS) in plants	3
Figure 1.2	Sites of production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) at several	
	location in plants	7
Figure 1.3	Reactive oxygen species (ROS) induced oxidative damage to lipids, proteins, and DNA.	8
Figure 1.4	Distribution of the main antioxidant resources in plant cell	12
Figure 1.5	ROS and antioxidants defense mechanism	18
Figure 1.6	Model of SOS pathway for salinity stress responses	21
Figure 1.7	Model showing Ca ²⁺ -triggered changes leading to the positive and	
	negative regulation of H ₂ O ₂ level in plants	22
Figure 1.8	Regulation of ion (e.g., Na^+ , K^+ , and Ca^{2+}) homeostasis by SOS and	
	related pathways in relation to salinity stress tolerance	23
Figure 1.9	Three-dimensional structure of calmodulin (CaM)	25
Figure 1.10	RNA blot analysis and quantitative comparison of OsCaM1-1 gene	
	under in vitro normal growth condition of wild-type plants, control	
	rice plants lines and three transgenic rice plants	29
Figure 3.1	Effect of high salinity on H_2O_2 content in leaves of the three	
	transgenic 'KDML 105' rice Oryza sativa L. overexpressing	
	OsCaM1-1 gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type	
	plants	44
Figure 3.2	Effect of high salinity on activity levels of SOD, CAT, APX and GR	
	in leaves of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice Oryza sativa L.	
	overexpressing OsCaM1-1 gene compare to the control transgenic	
	and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaCl)	. –
	for 3 days	47

- Figure 3.8 The phenotype comparison of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice Oryza sativa L. overexpressing OsCaM1-1 gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants under normal (0 mM NaCl) and salt-stress conditions (150 mM NaCl) for 3 days......61

Figure 3.9 Effect of high salinity on relative water content (RWC) of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing

Page

OsCaM1-1 gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaCl) for 3 days...........63



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Salinity is a major abiotic stress in plant agriculture worldwide. Almost 71% of the earth's area is occupied by saline water. Due to the influence of salinization, alkalization and waterlogging about 95 million hectares of land worldwide is afflicted to high salinity. Salt-affected soils cause great economic losses by unacceptable yield reduction and in some cases, being far from any reasonable utilization.

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is an important food crop for the entire world population. Especially, jasmine rice 'Khao Dok Mali 105' (KDML 105), a well known fragrant Thai rice, is an indica variety originally from Thailand. The grain is characterized by its unique appearance, cooking quality and aroma. Because of its characteristic shiny white color, resembling that of a jasmine flower, its soft texture and aromatic fragrance when cooked, it is increasingly in demand around the world. However, grain yield is limited because of its moderately salt-sensitive (Maas 1977).

Saline soil is enriched with salts which are readily water-soluble i.e. sodium chloride (NaCl), sodium sulfate (Na₂SO₄), calcium chloride (CaCl₂), and magnesium chloride (MgCl₂). It is a major barrier to rice cultivation, reducing productivity (Shannon et al. 1998). Sodium chloride salt is a small molecule when oxidized to sodium ions (Na⁺) and chloride ions (Cl⁻), which is easily absorbed by root cells and transferred to plant overall through its xylem vascular tissues (Maathuis and Amtmann 1999; Rodriguez-Navarro and Rubio 2006; Tester and Davenport 2003). Na⁺ ions are well known as causing toxic damage to plant cells by both ionic and osmotic effects,

causing growth retardation, and low productivity (Chinnusamy et al. 2005; Mansour and Salama 2004). In addition, effects in plants experiencing salt stress are enhanced generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) including superoxide radical (O_2^{-}), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), hydroxyl radical ('OH) and singlet oxygen (1O_2) leading to oxidative stress. Excess of ROS triggers phytotoxic reactions such as lipid peroxidation, inactivating enzymes, protein degradation, denaturing DNA molecules and eventually, cell death (Bor et al. 2003; Jiang and Zhang 2001).

Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

ROS are a group of free radicals, reactive molecules, and ions that are derived from O_2 . It has been estimated that about 1% of O_2 consumed by plants is diverted to produce ROS (Asada 2006) in various subcellular loci such as chloroplasts, mitochondria, peroxisomes. ROS are well recognized for playing a dual role as both deleterious and beneficial species depending on their concentration in plants. At high concentration ROS cause damage to biomolecules, whereas at low/moderate concentration it acts as secondary messenger in intracellular signalling cascades that mediate several responses in plant cells.

 O_2 itself is a totally harmless molecule as in its ground state it has two unpaired electrons with parallel spin which makes it paramagnetic and, hence, unlikely to participate in reactions with organic molecules unless it is activated (Apel and Hirt 2004). Activation of O_2 may occur by two different mechanisms: (i) absorption of sufficient energy to reverse the spin on one of the unpaired electrons and (ii) stepwise monovalent reduction. In the former, 1O_2 is formed, whereas in latter, O_2 is sequentially reduced to $O_2^{\bullet-}$, H_2O_2 , and ${}^{\bullet}OH$. Activation of O_2 occurs by two different mechanisms.

Stepwise monovalent reduction of O_2 leads to formation of O_2^{-} , H_2O_2 , and 'OH, whereas energy transfer to O_2 leads to formation of 1O_2 . O_2^{-} is easily dismutated to H_2O_2 either non-enzymatically or by superoxide dismutase (SOD) catalyzed reaction to H_2O_2 . H_2O_2 is converted to H_2O by catalase (CAT), guaiacol peroxidase (GPX), and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) (Sharma et al. 2012) (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plants (Sharma et al. 2012).

The major site of superoxide radical (O_2^{-}) production is the reaction centers of photosystem I (PSI) and a photosystem II (PSII) in chloroplast thylakoids. In mitochondria, complex I, II and complex III in the electron transport chain (ETC) contribute to superoxide radical production. The terminal oxidases-cytochrome c oxidase and the alternative oxidase react with O₂, four electrons are transferred and H₂O

is released. There is situation when O_2 can react with other ETC components and there in only one electron transferred with the result of O_2^{-} release. It has been shown that in plants 1-2% of O_2 consumption leads to O_2^{-} production (Puntarulo et al. 1988).

Singlet oxygen is the first excited electronic state of O_2 . Insufficient energy dissipation during photosynthesis can lead to formation of chlorophyll (Chl) triplet state. And the Chl triplet state can react with $3O_2$ to give up very reactive singlet oxygen. It has been proved that singlet oxygen formation during photosynthesis can have damaging effect on PSI and PSII and on whole machinery of photosynthesis.

Hydroxyl radicals ('OH) are the highest reactive ROS. It can be produced from O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 at neutral pH and ambient temperature by iron-catalyzed.

 H_2O_2 is produced by univalent reduction of O_2 ⁻. H_2O_2 is moderately reactive (Table 1.1). It has been proved that excess of H_2O_2 leads to oxidative stress. This molecule may also inactivate enzymes by oxidizing their thiol groups. Moreover, H_2O_2 play dual role in plants. At low concentration it can act as a signal molecule involved in acclimatory signaling triggering tolerance to different biotic and abiotic stresses. At high concentration it leads to programmed cell death (Quan et al. 2008). It has been proved that H_2O_2 act as a key regulator of in a wide range of physiological processes like photorespiration and photosynthesis (Noctor and Foyer 1998b), stomatal movement (Bright et al. 2006), cell cycle (Mittler 2006) and growth and development (Foreman et al. 2003). H_2O_2 is taking as a second messenger for signals generated by means of ROS due to its relatively long life and high permeability across membranes. Many of the general stress genes are regulated by a signaling pathways using H_2O_2 as the messenger (Moller and Sweetlove 2010). Table 1.1Key reactive oxygen species (ROS), their properties, and main

	Half-life			Main
ROS	and	Mode of action	Cellular sources	scavenging
	ability			system
Superoxide	1 µs,	Reacts with double	Formed in many	Superoxide
radical $(O_2^{\bullet-})$	30 nm	bond-containing	photooxidation	dismutases
		compounds such	reactions	(SODs)
		as iron-sulphur	(flavoprotein,	
		(Fe-S) clusters of	redox cycling).	
		proteins; reacts	Mehler reaction in	
		with nitric oxide	chloroplasts,	
		(NO) to form	mitochondrial	
		peroxynitrite	electron transport	
		$(ONOO^{-})$	chains (ETCs)	
			reactions,	
			glyoximal	
			photorespiration,	
	1	AGA	peroxisomes, and	
			plasma membrane.	
			NADPH oxidase	
		(freedoma)	in membranes.	
		A THE	Xanthine oxidase	
	8		and membrane	
			polypeptides in	
			Peroxisomes.	
	J W	19/11278910.13061	(O_2) in apoplastic	
	CHUL	alongkorn Univei	(03) III apopiastic	
Hydroxyl	1 nc	Extremely reactive	Reaction of H ₂ O ₂	Flavonoids
radical ('OH)	1 ns,	with protein	with $\Omega_2^{\bullet-}$ (Haber-	prevention
	1 1111	lipids DNA and	Weiss reaction)	of 'OH
		other	reactions of H ₂ O ₂	formation
		macromolecules	with Fe^{2+} (Fenton	hv
			reaction).	sequencing
			Decomposition of	Fe
			O_3 in apoplastic	
			space	
Hydrogen	1 ms,	Oxidized proteins;	ETCs of	Catalase,
peroxide	1 µm	reacts with O2 ^{•-} in	mitochondria,	various
(H ₂ O ₂)		a Fe-catalyzed	chloroplasts,	peroxidases
		reaction to form	endoplasmic	,
		•OH	reticulum, and	peroxiredo
			plasma membrane.	xins, and
			Photorespiration,	flavonoids

scavenging systems in plant cells

			fatty acid β- oxidation, urate oxidase, and MnSOD in peroxisomes	
Singlet oxygen (¹ O ₂)	1 μs, 30 nm	Directly oxidized protein, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and DNA	Photoinhibition, photosystem II electron transfer reactions in chloroplasts	Carotenoid s and α- tocopherols

Sites of production of ROS

ROS are produced in both unstressed and stressed cells at several locations in chloroplasts, mitochondria, plasma membranes, peroxisomes, apoplast, endoplasmic reticulum, and cell walls (Blokhina and Fagerstedt 2010; Hossain et al. 2011; Mhamdi et al. 2010a) (Figure 1.2). ROS are always formed by the inevitable leakage of electrons onto O₂ from the electron transport activities of chloroplasts, mitochondria, and plasma membranes or as a byproduct of various metabolic pathways localized in different cellular compartments.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 1.2 Sites of production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) at several location in plants (Blokhina & Fagerstedt, 2010; Hossain, Hasanuzzaman, & Fujita, 2011; Mhamdi et al., 2010).

ROS and Oxidative Damage to Biomolecules

Production and removal of ROS must be strictly controlled in order to avoid oxidative stress. When the level of ROS exceeds the defense mechanisms, a cell is said to be in a state of "oxidative stress". However, the equilibrium between production and scavenging of ROS is perturbed under a number of stressful conditions such as salinity, drought, high light, toxicity due to metals, pathogens, and so forth. Enhanced level of ROS can cause damage to biomolecules such as lipids, proteins and DNA (Figure 1.3). These reactions can alter intrinsic membrane properties like fluidity, ion transport, loss of enzyme activity, protein cross-linking, inhibition of protein synthesis, DNA damage, and so forth ultimately resulting in cell death.



Figure 1.3 Reactive oxygen species (ROS) induced oxidative damage to lipids, proteins, and DNA (Sharma et al. 2012).

Lipids

When ROS level reaches above threshold, enhanced lipid peroxidation takes place in both cellular and organellar membranes, which, in turn, affect normal cellular functioning. Lipid peroxidation aggravates the oxidative stress through production of lipid-derived radicals that themselves can react with and damage proteins and DNA. The level of lipid peroxidation has been widely used as an indicator of ROS mediated damage to cell membranes under stressful conditions. Increased peroxidation (degradation) of lipids has been reported in plants growing under environmental stresses (Sharma and Shanker Dubey 2005; Tanou et al. 2009). Increase in lipid peroxidation under these stresses parallels with increased production of ROS. Malondialdehyde (MDA) is one of the final products of peroxidation of unsaturated fatty acids in phospholipids and is responsible for cell membrane damage (Halliwell 1989). Two common sites of ROS attack on the phospholipid molecules are the unsaturated (double) bond between two carbon atoms and the ester linkage between glycerol and the fatty acid. The polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) present in membrane phospholipids are particularly sensitive to attack by ROS. A single 'OH can result in peroxidation of many polyunsaturated fatty acids because the reactions involved in this process are part of a cyclic chain reaction. The overall process of lipid peroxidation involves three distinct stages: initiation, progression, and termination steps. The initial phase of lipid peroxidation includes activation of O_2 which is rate limiting. O_2^- and 'OH can react with methylene groups of PUFA forming conjugated dienes, lipid peroxy radicals and hydroperoxides (Smirnoff 1995).

Proteins

Proteins are the most abundant cellular component oxidized by ROS constituting up to 68% of the oxidized molecules in the cell (Rinalducci et al. 2008). Protein oxidation is a covalent modification induced by ROS or by products of oxidative stress. Protein oxidation mostly is irreversible, however, a few involving sulfur-containing amino acid are reversible (Ghezzi and Bonetto 2003). The most susceptible residues to oxidation are the sulphur containing cysteine and methionine. The thiol of cysteine may be oxidized by hydroxyl radicals, superoxide and hydrogen peroxide to a disulfide that can be readily reversible. Oxidation of methionine in many proteins has little effect on protein structure and function.

Due to biotic and abiotic stresses DNA is exposed to damage. Endogenously generated damage to DNA is known as "spontaneous DNA damage", which is produced by reactive metabolites ('OH, O_2^{+} and NO'). High level of ROS can influence on damage to cell structures, nucleic acids, lipids and proteins. It has been considered that one of the most reactive is 'OH causing damage to all components of DNA molecules. This molecule damages purine, pyrimidine and deoxyribose backbone. 1O_2 damages guanine, and H₂O₂ and O₂⁺⁻ do not react at all. Result of DNA damage can be various physiological effects like reduced protein synthesis, cell membrane destruction, damage to photosynthetic proteins what consequently leads to growth and development disorders (Britt 1999).

A wide range of unfavorable environmental conditions like mentioned drought, extreme temperatures, salt stress etc. can induce stresses that alter seriously plant metabolism and may increase production of ROS (H₂O₂, O₂^{-, 1}O₂, 'OH) inducing an oxidative stress in organelles. Plants are unable to escape exposure to these environmental constraints and evolved mechanisms in order to survive. To prevent appearance of these toxic compounds and their consequences plants have a variety of constitutively expressed antioxidant defense mechanisms to scavenge the ROS generated.

Physiological and Biochemical Mechanisms of Salt Tolerance

Plants develop various physiological and biochemical mechanisms in order to survive in soils with high salt concentration. Principle mechanisms include, but are not limited to, activation of antioxidant enzyme and synthesis of antioxidant compounds and ion homeostasis and compartmentalization. Research advances elucidating these mechanisms are discussed below.

Antioxidative Defense System in Plants

Plants possess complex antioxidative defense system comprising of nonenzymatic and enzymatic components to scavenge ROS. In plant cells, specific ROS producing and scavenging systems are found in different organelles such as chloroplasts, mitochondria, and peroxisomes. ROS-scavenging pathways from different cellular compartments are coordinated (Pang and Wang 2008). Under normal conditions, potentially toxic oxygen metabolites are generated at a low level and there is an appropriate balance between production and quenching of ROS. The balance between production and quenching of ROS may be perturbed by a number of adverse environmental factors, giving rise to rapid increases in intracellular ROS levels (Noctor et al. 2002), which can induce oxidative damage to lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids. In order to avoid the oxidative damage, higher plants raise the level of endogenous antioxidant defense (SHARMA 2010). Given the challenge imposed by plant oxygen-evolving capability, each organelle or compartment has evolved mechanisms for the elimination of excess ROS accumulation (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4 Distribution of the main antioxidant resources in plant cell (Racchi 2013).

Nonenzymatic Components of Antioxidative Defense System

The non-enzymatic antioxidants refer to the biological activity of numerous vitamins, secondary metabolites and other phytochemicals aimed to protect plants against ROS activity. Among the most important non-enzymatic antioxidants are ascorbic acid (AsA), glutathione (GSH), carotenoids, flavonoids, etc.

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C)

Ascorbic acid is the most abundant, powerful and water soluble antioxidant which minimizes or prevents damage caused by ROS in plants. Ascorbic acid is one of the most studied one and has been detected in majority of plant cell types, organelles and apoplast (Smirnoff 2000). Ascorbic acid reacts not only with H_2O_2 , but also with O_2^{--} , 'OH and lipid hydroperoxidases. In turf grass, ascorbic acid concentration significantly increases during water deficiency (Hong-Bo et al. 2006). Ascorbic acid can also directly scavenge 1O_2 , O_2^{--} and 'OH and regenerate tocopherol from tocopheroxyl radicals providing membrane protection. Moreover, antioxidants like ascorbic acid and glutathione are involved in neutralization of secondary products of ROS reaction. Fundamental role of ascorbic acid in the plant defense system is to protect metabolic processes against H_2O_2 . And also ascorbic acid reacts non-enzymatically with superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and singlet oxygen (Smirnoff 2000).

Glutathione (GSH)

Glutathione (GSH) is a tripeptide (α -glutamyl-cysteinyl-glycine), which is considered as the most important intracellular defense against ROS-induced oxidative damage. Glutathione has been detected in all cell compartments such as cytosol, chloroplasts and endoplasmatic reticulum (Foyer and Noctor 2003). Glutathione is the major source of non-protein thiol groups. The nucleophilic nature of the thiol group is important in the formation of mercaptide bonds with metals for reacting with selected electrophiles. Glutathione is involved in control of H₂O₂ levels. The change in the ratio of its reduced (GSH) to oxidized (GSSG) form during the degradation of H₂O₂ is very important in certain signaling pathway. It has been considered that GSH/GSSG ratio, indicative of the cellular redox balance, may be involved in ROS perception (Li and Jin 2007). Glutathione is important in plant chloroplasts because it helps to protect the photosynthetic apparatus from oxidative damage.

Carotenoids

Carotenoids are pigments that are found in plants and microorganisms. There are over 600 carotenoids in nature. Carotenoids are lipid soluble antioxidants that plays multitude of function in plant metabolism including oxidative stress tolerance. Carotenoids take part in three different functions in plants. First one, they absorb the light at wavelength between 400 and 550 nm and transfer it to the Chl. Secondly, they protect photosynthetic apparatus by quenching a triplet sensitizer (Chl3), ¹O₂ and other harmful free radicals which are naturally formed during photosynthesis (an antioxidant function). Thirdly, they are important for the PSI assembly and the stability of light of light harvesting complex protein as well as thylakoid membrane stabilization (structural function) (Siefermann-Harms 1987).

Enzymatic Components

The enzymatic components of the antioxidative defense system comprise of several antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), guaiacol peroxidase (POX), enzymes of ascorbate-glutathione (AsA-GSH) cycle such as ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR), and glutathione reductase (GR) (Noctor and Foyer 1998a). These enzymes operate in different subcellular compartments and respond in concert when cells are exposed to oxidative stress.

Table 1.2	Major ROS	scavenging	antioxidant	enzymes.
-----------	-----------	------------	-------------	----------

Enzymatic antioxidants	Enzyme code	Reaction catalyzed
Superoxide dismutase (SOD)	EC 1.15.1.1	$O_2^{\bullet-} + O_2^{\bullet-} + 2H^+ \rightarrow$
		$2H_2O_2 + O_2$
Catalase (CAT)	EC 1.11.1.6	$H_2O_2 \rightarrow H_2O + \frac{1}{2}O_2$
Ascorbate peroxidase (APX)	EC 1.11.1.11	$H_2O_2 + AsA \rightarrow 2H_2O +$
		DHA

	FC 1 11 1 7	
Gualacol peroxidase (POX)	EC 1.11.1./	gualacol + $4H_2O_2 \rightarrow$
		tetraguaiacol + $8H_2O$
Monodehydroascorbate reductase		
(MDHAR)	EC 1.6.5.4	$MDHA + NAD(P)H \rightarrow$
		$AsA + NAD(P)^+$
Dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR)	EC 1.8.5.1	$DHA + 2GSH \rightarrow AsA$
		+GSSG
Glutathione reductase (GR)	EC 1.6.4.2	$GSSG + NAD(P)H \rightarrow$
		$2\text{GSH} + \text{NAD}(P)^+$

Superoxide Dismutase

Superoxide dismutase (SOD, EC 1.15.1.1) is the primary scavenger in the detoxification of active oxygen species in plants discovered by Irwin Fridovich and Joe McCord (McCord and Fridovich 1969). SOD constitutes the first line of defense against ROS. Specialization of function among SODs may be due to combination of the influence of subcellular localization of the enzyme and upstream sequences in genomic sequence. SOD remove O_2^{\bullet} by catalyzing its dismutation, one O_2^{\bullet} is reduced to H_2O_2 and another to O_2 (Table 1.2). SODs are metalloproteins and based on their metal cofactor they are classified into three known types: the copper/zinc (Cu/ZnSOD), the manganese (MnSOD) and the iron (FeSOD) that are localized in different cellular compartment (Mittler 2002). The activity of SOD isoenzymes can be detected by negative staining and identified on the base of their sensitivity to KCN and H₂O₂. Cu/ZnSOD is sensitive to both inhibitors; the MnSOD is resistant on both inhibitors, whereas FeSOD is resistant to KCN and sensitive to H₂O₂. The distribution of SOD isoenzymes is also distinctive. The Cu/ZnSOD is found in the cytosolic fraction and also in chloroplasts in higher plants. MnSOD is found in the mitochondria of eukaryotic cells and in peroxisomes. And the FeSOD is usually present in chloroplasts, but they are not often found in plants. The up regulation of SODs has been observed in plants subjected to both abiotic (Boguszewska et al. 2010) and biotic stresses (Torres 2010). Overexpression of SODs in transgenic plants resulted in higher salt or drought tolerance (Badawi et al. 2004). Thus, SOD have a critical role in the survival of plants under environmental stresses.

Catalase

Among antioxidant enzymes, catalase (CAT, EC 1.11.1.6) was the first enzyme to be discovered and characterized. It is a ubiquitous tetrameric heme-containing enzyme that catalyzes the dismutation of two molecules of H₂O₂ into water and oxygen. It has high specificity for H₂O₂, but weak activity against organic peroxides. Plants contain several types of H₂O₂-degrading enzymes, however, CATs are unique as they do not require cellular reducing equivalent. CATs have a very fast turnover rate, but a much lower affinity for H₂O₂ than APX. The peroxisomes are major sites of H_2O_2 production. CAT scavenges H_2O_2 generated in this organelle during photorespiratory oxidation, β -oxidation of fatty acids, and other enzyme systems such as XOD coupled to SOD (Corpas et al. 2008; Scandalios et al. 1997). Though there are frequent reports of CAT being present in cytosol, chloroplast, and mitochondria, the presence of significant CAT activity in these is less well established (Mhamdi et al. 2010b). To date, all angiosperm species studied, contain three CAT genes. Willekens et al. (Willekens et al. 1995) proposed a classification of CAT based on the expression profile of the tobacco genes. Class I CATs are expressed in photosynthetic tissues and are regulated by light. Class II CATs are expressed at high levels in vascular tissues, whereas Class III CATs are highly abundant in seeds and young seedlings.

 H_2O_2 has been implicated in many stress conditions. When cells are stressed for energy and are rapidly generating H_2O_2 through catabolic processes, H_2O_2 is degraded by CAT in an energy efficient manner (Mallick and Mohn 2000). Environmental stresses cause either enhancement or depletion of CAT activity, depending on the intensity, duration, and type of the stress (Han et al. 2009; Moussa and Abdel-Aziz 2008; Sharma and Shanker Dubey 2005). In general, stresses that reduce the rate of protein turnover also reduce CAT activity. Stress analysis revealed increased susceptibility of CAT-deficient plants to paraquat, salt and ozone, but not to chilling (Willekens et al. 1997). Overexpression of a CAT gene from *Brassica juncea* introduced into tobacco, enhanced its tolerance to Cd induced oxidative stress (Guan et al. 2009).

Ascorbate Peroxidase

Ascorbate peroxidase (APX, EC 1.11.1.11) exists as isoenzymes and plays an important role in the metabolism of H₂O₂ in higher plants. It is clear that a high level of endogenous ascorbate is essential to maintain effectively the antioxidant system that protects plants from oxidative damage due to biotic and abiotic stresses. APX is involved in scavenging of H₂O₂ into water-water and ascorbate-glutathione cycles and utilizes ascorbate as an electron donor. There are five different isoforms of APX base on the localization: thylakoid tAPX, glyoxysome membrane APX (gmAPX), chloroplast stromal soluble form (sAPX) and cytosolic form of APX (cAPX). It has been shown enhanced expression of APX in plants growing under unfavorable environmental conditions.

Glutathione Reductase

Glutathione reductase (GR, EC 1.6.4.2) is a flavoprotein oxidoreductase. It is an enzyme that is thought to play an essential role in defence system against ROS (Gill and Tuteja 2010b). Reducing glutathione disulfide (GSSG) to the sulfhydryl form (GSH), which is an important cellular antioxidant in defense against ROS, it sustains the reduced status of GSH. Glutathione disulfide contains of two GSH linked by a disulphide bridge which can be converted back to GSH by GR (Reddy 1986). GR is localized mainly in chloroplasts and small amount of this enzyme has been found in mitochondria and cytosol. By catalyzing the reduction of GSH, GR is an enzyme involved in regulation of cell energy metabolism. GR catalyzes the NADPH-dependent reduction of disulfide bond of GSSG what is important in the maintaining of GSH pool. Increased level of GR has been observed in plants subjected to metal, drought and salt stresses.



Figure 1.5 ROS and antioxidants defense mechanism (Gill and Tuteja 2010a).

Ion Homeostasis and Salt Tolerance

Maintaining ion homeostasis by ion uptake and compartmentalization is not only crucial for normal plant growth but is also an essential process for growth during salt stress. (Hasegawa 2013; Niu et al. 1995; Serrano et al. 1999). Irrespective of their nature, both glycophytes and halophytes cannot tolerate high salt concentration in their cytoplasm. Hence, the excess salt is either transported to the vacuole or sequestered in older tissues which eventually are sacrificed, thereby protecting the plant from salinity stress (Reddy et al. 1993; Zhu 2003).

Major form of salt present in the soil is NaCl, so the main focus of research is the study about the transport mechanism of Na⁺ ion and its compartmentalization. The Na⁺ ion that enters the cytoplasm is then transported to the vacuole via Na^+/H^+ antiporter. Two types of H⁺ pumps are present in the vacuolar membrane: vacuolar type H⁺-ATPase (V-ATPase) and the vacuolar pyrophosphatase (V-PPase) (Dietz et al. 2001; Otoch et al. 2001; Wang et al. 2001). Of these, V-ATPase is the most dominant H⁺ pump present within the plant cell. During nonstress conditions it plays an important role in maintaining solute homeostasis, energizing secondary transport and facilitating vesicle fusion. Under stressed condition the survivability of the plant depends upon the activity of V-ATPase (Dietz et al. 2001). In a study performed by De (2001) in hypocotyls of Vigna Lourdes Oliveira Otoch and workers unguiculata seedlings, it was observed that the activity of V-ATPase pump increased when exposed to salinity stress, activity of V-PPase was inhibited, whereas in the case of halophyte Suaeda salsa, V-ATPase activity was upregulated and V-PPase played a minor role (Wang et al. 2001).

Salt Overly Sensitive pathway (SOS)

The SOS signalling pathway (Figure 1.6) consists of three major proteins, SOS1, SOS2, and SOS3-SOS2, which encodes a plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, is essential in regulating Na⁺ efflux at cellular level. Overexpression of this protein confers salt tolerance in plants (Shi et al. 2000). The interaction between SOS2 and SOS3 protein results in the activation of the kinase (Guo et al. 2004). The activated kinase then phosphorylates SOS1 protein thereby increasing its transport activity (Quintero et al. 2002). Besides conferring salt tolerance it also regulates pH homeostasis, membrane vesicle trafficking, and vacuole functions (Oh et al. 2010; Quintero et al. 2011). Thus with the increase in the concentration of Na⁺ there is a sharp increase in the intracellular Ca²⁺ level which in turn facilitates its binding with SOS3 protein. The SOS3 protein then interacts and activates SOS2 protein by releasing its self-inhibition. The SOS3-SOS2 complex is then loaded onto plasma membrane where it phosphorylates SOS1 (Figure 1.6). The phosphorylated SOS1 results in the increased Na⁺ efflux, reducing Na⁺ toxicity (Martínez-Atienza et al. 2007).

GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 1.6 Model of SOS pathway for salinity stress responses (Chinnusamy et al. 2004).

Roles of Ca²⁺ in plants

Calcium (Ca²⁺) is an element that is crucial for numerous biological functions. In addition to its key roles in the structural integrity of the cell wall and the membrane system, it has been shown to act as an intracellular regulator in many aspects of plant growth and development including stress responses (White and Broadley 2003). An increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ has dual roles in regulating H₂O₂ homeostasis (Figure 1.7), initiating the stress signal transduction pathways for stress tolerance. Ca²⁺ release can be primarily from an extracellular source (apoplastic space) as the addition of EGTA or BAPTA blocks calcineurin mediated activity (Figure 1.8). Furthermore, calciumbinding proteins (calcium sensors) can provide an additional level of regulation in

calcium signaling. These sensor proteins recognize and decode the information provided in the calcium signatures and relay the information downstream to initiate a phosphorylation cascade, leading to regulation of gene expression. However, as high Ca^{2+} concentrations can be toxic to cellular energy metabolism (Wu et al. 1996).



Figure 1.7 Model showing Ca^{2+} -triggered changes leading to the positive and negative regulation of H₂O₂ level in plants. For positive regulation, extracellular signals trigger an influx of Ca²⁺, which increases the generation of H₂O₂. This may occur by activating NADPH oxidase, which has affinity to Ca²⁺, and increasing the production of NADPH by means of CaM-regulated NAD kinase. For negative regulation, Ca²⁺ binds to CaM, and the Ca²⁺/CaM complex

stimulates the catalytic activity of catalase, leading to the rapid degradation of H_2O_2 . The increase in H_2O_2 can boost the Ca²⁺ influx by activating the calcium channel (Yang and Poovaiah 2002).



Figure 1.8 Regulation of ion (e.g., Na^+ , K^+ , and Ca^{2+}) homeostasis by SOS and related pathways in relation to salinity stress tolerance (Tuteja 2007).

Ca²⁺-modulated proteins

 Ca^{2+} -dependent modulation of cellular processes occurs via intracellular Ca^{2+} binding proteins, also known as Ca^{2+} sensors, of which calmodulin (CaM) is one of the best characterized. CaM has no catalytic activity of its own but, upon binding Ca^{2+} , it
activates numerous target proteins involved in a variety of cellular processes. Recent reviews on CaM summarize the roles of CaM as a Ca²⁺ signal transducer in plants (Snedden and Fromm 1998; Zielinski 1998) and animals (Chin and Means 2000; Van Eldik and Watterson 1998). In addition, a number of recent reviews are available on the subject of other families of important Ca²⁺ sensors present in plants, such as the Ca²⁺dependent (CaM-independent) protein kinases (CDPKs) (Harmon et al. 2000) and annexins, whose association with membranes through binding of anionic phospholipids is Ca²⁺ dependent (Hofmann et al. 2000). A brief account of the important features of CaM as a Ca²⁺ transducer is presented below.

This study focuses on calmodulin, an essential Ca²⁺ transducer in eukaryotic cells and its functions in plants.

Calmodulin

Calmodulin is a protein that function as intracellular transducers of Ca²⁺ signals contain a common structural motif, the 'EF hand' (Strynadka and James 1989), which is a helix-loop-helix structure that binds a single Ca²⁺ ion. These motifs typically occur in closely linked pairs, interacting through antiparallel β -sheets (Strynadka and James 1989). This arrangement is the basis for cooperativity in Ca²⁺ binding. The superfamily of EF-hand proteins is divided into several classes based on differences in number and organization of EF-hand pairs, amino acid sequences within or outside the motifs, affinity to Ca²⁺ and/or selectivity and affinity to target proteins (Crivici and Ikura 1995; Strynadka and James 1989). CaM is an acidic EF-hand protein present in all eukaryotes. The CaM prototype is composed of 148 amino acids arranged in two globular domains connected with a long flexible helix. Each globular domain contains a pair of intimately linked EF hands (Figure 1.9a).



Figure 1.9 Three-dimensional structure of calmodulin (CaM). (a) Crystal structure of Ca²⁺/CaM. (b) Solution structure of Ca²⁺/CaM-peptide complex. α -helices are shown as cylinders (violet in CaM, light blue in the target peptide); β -sheets are indicated as deep purple arrows, and Ca²⁺ ions as spheres in light brown. The structural images were created with the Insight II software (BIOSYM Technology, San Diego, CA, USA) using the Brookhaven data base structure codes 3CLN and 2BBM, respectively. The structural images show only the backbones of CaM and the peptide (i.e. no side chains) (Snedden and Fromm 1998).

CaM and plant responses to environmental stimuli

In view of the role Ca^{2+} plays in mediating plant responses to biotic (Levine et al. 1996) and abiotic (Knight 1999) stimuli, it is not surprising that CaM, as an important cellular Ca^{2+} receptor, is involved in mediating these responses.

Calcium signals decoding elements and plant salt resistance

When Ca^{2+} is in deficit, plants are more susceptible to damage by low pH or high salt. Numerous results suggest that external and apoplastic Ca^{2+} directly alleviates symptoms produced by ion stresses or mineral toxicities, such as proton, Na⁺, Al³⁺, and Cl⁻ toxicities, and Ca²⁺ also helps to establish a favorable K⁺: Na⁺ ratio under salt stress (Plieth 2005).

It is suggested that intracellular calcium signaling through a calcineurin-like pathway mediates the beneficial effect of calcium on plant salt tolerance (Liu and Zhu 1998). A salt stress induced Ca^{2+} -dependent signaling network was described and illustrated in detail to mediate Na⁺ homeostasis and salt tolerance, indicating that Ca^{2+} transporters are closely related to plant salt tolerance. It was also suggested that CaM activation might be necessary in calcium promotion of the accumulation of proline in fig calli, and the addition of calcium to media alleviated the inhibition of fig callus growth under salt stress demonstrating that CaM might act jointly with Ca²⁺ under the support of calcium signals decoding elements in plant responses to salt stress (Wang et al. 1999). It was found that in barley roots, the activation of tonoplast H⁺-ATPase and the regulation of Na⁺ and K⁺ uptake under NaCl stress may be related to Ca²⁺-CaM system, showing that calcium signals decoding elements may participate in the process of plant signaling responses to salt stress through accordingly regulating cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration (Song et al. 2008).

Metabolic regulation by CaM

CaM appears to play a signalling role in several metabolic pathways. Plants are unique among eukaryotes in producing their own carbohydrates from inorganic carbon, the synthesis of which is controlled by developmental as well as environmental signals. Studies have implicated Ca^{2+}/CaM in phototransduction pathways that control chloroplast development (Bowler and Chua 1994). This developmentally regulated process establishes the machinery for the photosynthetic activity of plants whereby carbon is fixed into sugars. In addition, CaM was also suggested to participate in sugar sensing and sugar signal transduction (Smeekens and Rook 1997).

A previous study by Saeng-ngam and workers (2012), the transgenic rice plants containing *OsCaM1-1* gene under the control of *35SCaMV promoter* (*35SCaMV-OsCaM1-1*) were constructed by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation via pCAMBIA1301 plasmid. Three transgenic rice lines harboring the 35SCaMV-OsCam1-1 and transgenic lines harboring the T-DNA from pCAMBIA1301 alone as negative controls have been produced. Therefore the aim of this study is to demonstrate that *OsCaM1-1* gene causes protection of plant cells against salt stress in the transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene under the control of *35SCaMV promoter* compared to the control of transgenic rice plants that harbor the T-DNA alone without the inserted gene as well as the wild-type KDML 105 plants, with special regard to changes in antioxidant enzymes like SOD, CAT and also enzymes of AsA-GSH cycle

(APX and GR), as well as ROS scavenging activity, photosynthetic pigment contents, lipid peroxidation and growth.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Confirmation of the over-expression level of *OsCaM1-1* gene in transgenic rice plants

A previous study by Takpirom, the over-expressed of *OsCaM1-1* gene regulated by 35SCaMV in the transgenic rice plants was confirmed by performing northern blot analysis of total RNA (Figure 1.10).



Figure 1.10 RNA blot analysis and quantitative comparison of OsCaM1-1 gene under in vitro normal growth condition of wild-type plants, two independent control rice plants lines and three transgenic rice plants. Each lane was loaded with total RNA isolated from leaves. RNA was analyzed by gel blot hybridization with a denatured ³²P-oligolabeled OsCaM1-1 probe. An ethidium bromide-staning gel of each analysis is shown under its corresponding autoradiography (Takpirom, 2007).

Objectives of the thesis

Evaluate the antioxidative systems, growth, photosynthetic pigments, lipid peroxidation and scavenging activity in transgenic rice *Oryza sativa* L. 'KDML105' overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* to comparison with the control transgenic lines and wild-type plants.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Rice seeds

Rice *Oryza sativa* L. cultivar Khao Dok Ma Li 105 (KDML 105) and transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene.

2.1.3 Instruments

Autoclave: Labo Autoclave MLS-3020 (Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd.,

Japan)

Automatic micropipette: Pipetman P2, P20, P100, P200, P1000 (Gilson

Medical Electronics S.A., France)

Balance: Sartorius CP423s (Scientific Promotion Co. USA)

Centrifuge 5804R (Eppendorf, Germany)

Centrifuge Sorvall Legend XTR (Thermo Scientific, USA)

CentriVap Concentrator (Labconco, USA)

-20 °C Freezer (Sharp, Japan)

Forma -86C ULT Freezer (Thermo Electron Corporation, USA)

Forma ClassII, A2 Biological safety cabinet (Thermo Electron

Corporation, USA)

Microwave oven (Panasonic, Japan)

Mixer Mill MM400 (Retsch[®], Germany)

60 °C Oven (Memmert, Germany)

Oven Series8000 (Contherm, New Zealand)

Plant Growth Chamber (Human Lab, South Korea)

pH meter: pH900 (Precisa, Germany)

Spectrophotometer: DU[®]640 (Beckman Coulter, USA)

-80 °C Ultra low temperature freezer (New Brunswick Scientific,

England)

Vibro shaker (Labinco BV, Netherlands)

Vortex mixer: Model K 550-GE (Scientific Inc., USA)

2.1.4 Inventory supplies

Cryo kit for cooling the grinding jars with liquid nitrogen (Retsch[®],

Germany)

Filter paper: Whatman No.1 (Whatman International Ltd., England)
Grinding balls, 2 mm Ø, stainless steel (Retsch[®], Germany)
Grinding jar, PTFE 1.5 ml (Retsch[®], Germany)
Microcentrifuge tube 1.5 ml (Axygen Heyward, USA)
Pipette tips 100, 1000 μl (Axygen Heyward, USA)

2.1.5 Chemicals and reagents

Agar (Bacteriological grade) (Criterion Chemical LLC, USA) Albumin, Bovine serum (Sigma Chemical Co., USA) Ammonium dihydrogen orthophosphate (BDH laboratory reagent, England) Ammonium sulfate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy)

L-ascorbic acid, 99% (Aldrich, Germany)

Boric acid (Univar, Australia)

Calcium chloride dihydrate (for analysis) (Carlo Erba

Reagenti, Italy)

Calcium nitrate-4-hydrate, 98% (Riedel-deHaën®, Germany)

Casein hydrolysate (Himedia laboratories Pvt, Ltd., India)

Cobaltous chloride hexahydrate (Fluka, Switzerland)

Copper(II) sulfate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy)

Coomassie[®] Brilliant Blue G-250 (Fluka, Switzerland)

N,N-Dimethylformamide (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy)

2,2-diphenyl-1-picryl-hydrazyl-hydrate (Sigma-Aldrich,

Germany)

Dithiothreitol (Bio Basic Inc., Canada)

Ethanol, absolute (BDH, England)

Etylenediaminetetraacetic acid disodium salt (EDTA) (Carlo

Erba Reagenti, Italy)

Gallic acid (Sigma Chemical Company Co., USA)

L-glutamine (Phyto Technology LaboratoriesTM, USA)

Guaiacol (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany)

Hydrochloric acid (Merck, Germany)

Hydrogen peroxide (Sigma Chemical Co., USA)

Iron(II) sulphate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy)

Magnesium chloride (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy)

Magnesium sulfate (Sigma Chemical Co., USA) Manganese(II) sulfate (Sigma Chemical Co., USA) Methanol (Merck, Germany) L-methionine (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) Myo-inositol (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) Nicotinic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) Nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) (Fermentas, Inc., USA) Phosphoric acid, 85% (Lab Scan, Ireland) Potassium chloride (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) Potassium dihydrogen phosphate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) di-Potassium hydrogen phosphate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) Potassium iodide (Sigma Chemical Co., USA) Potassium nitrate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) L-proline (Phyto Technology LaboratoriesTM, USA) Protease inhibitor mix (GE Healthcare, England) Pyridoxine (Sigma Chemical Co., USA) Riboflavin, 98% (Sigma Chemical Co., USA) Sodium carbonate, anhydrous (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) Sodium chloride (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) Sodium dihydrogen phosphate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) di-Sodium hydrogen phosphate (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy) Sodium hypochlorite (Haiter, Thailand) Sodium molybdate (Sigma Chemical Co., USA) Sucrose (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy)

Thiamine (Sigma Chemical Co., USA)
2-Thiobarbituric acid (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany)
Titanium(IV) chloride (Merck, Germany)
Trichloroacetic acid (Carlo Erba Reagenti, Italy)
Zinc sulfate (Sigma Chemical Co., USA)

2.2 Growth conditions and treatments

The KDML 105 cultivar rice seeds were obtained from Department of Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives (Bangkok, Thailand). Transgenic rice plants containing *OsCaM1-1* gene under the control of 35SCaMV promoter (35SCaMV-*OsCaM1-1*) were constructed by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation via pCAMBIA1301 plasmid. Three putative transgenic rice lines harboring the 35SCaMV-*OsCaM1-1* and the putative transgenic line harboring the T-DNA from pCAMBIA1301 alone as negative control were kindly provided by the research group "Special Task Force for Activating Research (STAR): Biochemical and Molecular Mechanisms of Rice in Changing Environments" by the Ratchadaphisek-sompot Endowment Fund, Chulalongkorn University. Seeds of the transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1*, the control (negative control transgenic line), and wild-type KDML105 were generated as described below.

Rice seeds were dehusked and sterilized with 70% (v/v) ethanol for one minute and then with 35% (w/v) sodium hypochlorite for 20 minutes. The seed were rinsed three times with sterile water and germinated in nutrient broth medium (NB) (Li et al. 1993) containing 0.8% (w/v) agar at 25-28 °C under 16 h light (200 μ mole m⁻² sec⁻¹)/ 8 h dark photo period. After 7 days, germinated seeds were transferred to and grown in Limpinuntana's nutrient solution (Limpinuntana 1978) (Appendix A) for 35 days. After 42 days, the seedlings were transferred to pots filled with sandy loam consisting about 10% clay soil and nitrogen/ phosphorus/potassium fertilizer (15: 15: 15) and grown for 4 months in the greenhouse. The seeds were harvested and dried at 60°C for 3 days in the incubator in order to decrease the moisture content. Refrigerated the seeds at 4 °C to use in experiments.

For the experiments, rice seeds were dehusked and sterilized with 70% (v/v) ethanol for one minute and then with 35% (w/v) sodium hypochlorite for 20 minutes. The seed were rinsed three times with sterile water and germinated in NB medium containing 0.8% (w/v) agar at 25-28 °C under 16 h light (200 μ mole m⁻² sec⁻¹)/8 h dark photo period. After 7 days, germinated seeds were transferred to and grown in Limpinuntana's nutrient solution for 14 days. For the exposure to salt stress, the 3-week-old seedlings were supplemented with 0, 50, 100, 150 or 200 mM NaCl. The leaves of 3-week-old seedlings were harvested after 3 days of salt stress and then stored at -80 °C until biochemical analyses (H₂O₂ content, the relative growth rate (RGR) of shoot and root, relative water content (RWC), the leaf chlorophyll *a*, *b* and carotenoid contents, lipid peroxidation, DPPH radical scavenging activity and antioxidant enzyme activities) were done.

2.3 Measurement of H₂O₂ content

The H_2O_2 level was modified from method those described by Patterson (1984). For H_2O_2 extraction, 0.05 g of leaves were ground to fine powder by Mixer Mill MM400 at a frequency of 35 Hz for one minute, two times. Then, 1 ml of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0 was added, and centrifuged (6,000 xg, 25°C, 15 min). 0.9 ml of supernatant was mixed with 0.3 ml of 1% v/v TiCl₄ in conc. HCl, then incubated at room temperature for 15 min. The content of H_2O_2 was measured by monitoring the A_{410} of the titanium-peroxide complex. Absorbance values were calibrated to a standard curved generated with known concentrations of H_2O_2 .

2.4 Antioxidant enzyme extracts and assay

Enzyme extracts for evaluating the superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and glutathione reductase (GR) activities were prepared by first freezing 0.1 g leaf samples were ground to fine powder by Mixer Mill MM400 and extracted with 1 ml of ice-cold 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.5, containing 0.5 mM ethylenediamine- tetraacetic acid (EDTA), 5 mM dithiothreitol, and 1 μ l/ml protease inhibitor, with the addition of 5 mM ascorbic acid in the case of APX and GR assay. The homogenates were centrifuged (15,000 xg, 4 °C, 20 min) prior to harvesting the supernatant as the enzyme extract.

2.4.1 Superoxide dismutase activity

GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT

SOD activity was assayed according to the method of Beauchamp and Fridovich (1971) by monitoring the inhibition of photochemical reduction of nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) to formazan. The 1.2 ml reaction mixture contained 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.8), 13 mM methionine, 50 mM sodium carbonate, 75 μ M NBT, 2 μ M riboflavin, 0.1 mM EDTA, and 50 μ g enzyme. The reaction mixtures were illuminated for 15 min at a light. One unit of SOD activity was defined as the amount of enzyme required to cause 50% inhibition of the reduction of NBT monitored at 560 nm.

2.4.2 Catalase activity

CAT activity was measured following Aebi (1984) by monitoring the decline of absorbance at 240 nm due to decomposition of H_2O_2 . The 1.2 ml reaction mixture contained 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0), 50 µg enzyme, and 17 mM H_2O_2 was added to start reaction. The extinction coefficient value of 39.4 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ was used for calculations.

2.4.3 Ascorbate peroxidase activity

APX activity was assayed according to the method Nakano and Asada (1981) by monitoring the rate of ascorbate oxidation at 290 nm. The 1.2 ml reaction mixture contained 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0), 0.5 mM ascorbic acid, 50 μ g enzyme, and 0.1 mM H₂O₂ was added to start reaction. The extinction coefficient value of 2.8 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ was used for calculations.

2.4.4 Glutathione reductase activity

The method of GR activity assay were modified from those described by Sherwin and Farrant (1998). GR activity was assayed by monitoring the decrease of absorbance at 340 nm due to reduction of GSSG to GSH. The 1.2 ml reaction mixture contained 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.5), 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.15 mM NADPH, and 50 μ g enzyme. The reaction was initiated by addition of 10 mM GSSG. The extinction coefficient value of 6.22 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ was used for calculations.

2.5 Measurement of photosynthetic pigments

Total chlorophyll, chlorophyll *a*, *b* and carotenoids were extracted in 1 ml of *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF) by grinding 0.05 g of leaves to fine powder with Mixer Mill MM400 at a frequency of 35 Hz for one minute, two times. The homogenate was centrifuged (5,000 xg, 10 min, 4 °C) and the absorbance of the resulting supernatant was taken at 461, 647 and 664 nm. Total chlorophyll, chlorophyll *a*, *b* and carotenoid contents were calculated according to modified method of Arnon (1949):

Total chlorophyll (a and b) (mg/l) =	$17.90 (A_{647}) + 8.08 (A_{664})$
Chlorophyll a (mg/l) =	12.70 (A ₆₆₄) - 2.79 (A ₆₄₇)

Chlorophyll b (mg/l) = $20.70 (A_{647}) - 4.62 (A_{664})$

Carotenoids (mg/l) = $A_{461} \times 200$

The pigment concentrations were calculated in mg/g FW of sample.

2.6 Measurement of lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was estimated measuring the formation of malondialdehyde (MDA), a breakdown product of lipid peroxidation, with 2-thiobarbituric acid (TBA) according to De Vos and workers (1989). 0.1 g of leaves were ground to fine powder by Mixer Mill MM400 at a frequency of 35 Hz for one minute, two times. Then, 1 ml of 0.1% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) was added and centrifuged (14,000 rpm, 25 °C, 15 min). After centrifugation, 0.3 ml of the supernatant was mixed with 0.75 ml 0.25% TBA in 10% TCA. The absorbance of resulting supernatant was taken at 532 and 600

nm. MDA content was determined by subtracting absorbance of supernatant at 600 nm from that of 532 nm and using absorbance coefficient of 155 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ and was expressed as μ mol per g fresh weight of sample.

2.7 Measurement of DPPH radical scavenging activity

The measurement of the DPPH radical scavenging activity was performed according to methodology described by Brand-Williams and workers (1995). 0.1 g of leaves were ground to fine powder by Mixer Mill MM400 at a frequency of 35 Hz for one minute, two times. Then, 1.0 ml of absolute methanol was added and evaporated by centrivap concentrator. The samples were reacted with the stable DPPH radical in an ethanol solution. The reaction mixture consisted of adding 0.5 ml of sample, 3 ml of absolute ethanol and 0.3 ml of DPPH radical solution 0.5 mM in ethanol. When DPPH reacts with an antioxidant compound, which can donate hydrogen, it is reduced. The changes in color (from deep violet to light yellow) were read at 517 nm after 30 min of reaction using a spectrophotometer. The mixture of ethanol and sample without DPPH radical solution serve as blank. The control solution was prepared by mixing ethanol and DPPH radical solution. The scavenging activity percentage (AA%) was calculated follows:

$$AA\% = \frac{(A_{control} - A_{test})}{A_{control}} \times 100$$

2.8 Growth measurement

Growth measurements, plants removed from the nutrient solutions, and shoots were separated from the roots and washed carefully with deionized water (Maiti et al. 1996). Shoot and root fresh weight (FW) and shoot and root dry weight (DW) of stressed and non stressed plants in saline conditions were determined. Shoot and root samples dried in an oven at 60°C for 72 h. to determine dry mater.

2.9 Measurement of relative growth rate (RGR)

The samples were randomly selected and oven-dried at 60 °C for 72 h for determination of dry weight. RGR was determined following the method outlined by Gardner (1985). RGR was calculated from the increase in dry weight of plants at the beginning and end of salt treatment, using the equation:

$$RGR = (lnW_f - lnW_i) / (t_f - t_i)$$

where, W_f and W_i are the shoot and root dry weight of plant, t_f and t_i are the **Comparison of Comparison of Compari**

2.10 Measurement of relative water content (RWC)

To determine relative water content (RWC), plants from each treatment conditions were randomly selected and the method described by Whetherley and Barrs (1962) was followed. About 0.1 g leaf sample was cut into smaller pieces and weighed to determine initial weight (W_i). The leaf samples were then floated in freshly deionized water for 12 h and weighed thereafter to determine fully turgid weight (W_f). The sample was oven-dried at 60° C for 3 days and the dry weight was obtained (W_d). The relative water content (RWC) was determined using the following formula:

$$RWC = [(W_i - W_d)/(W_f - W_d)] \times 100$$

2.11 Protein content

Protein concentrations in enzyme extract were measured according to the method of Bradford (1976), using different known concentrations of bovine serum albumin as the standard protein for calibration.

2.12 Statistical analysis

The significance of differences between mean values was compared by Duncan's test. Differences at p < 0.05 were considered significant.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

3.1 Effect of salt stress on H₂O₂ content

The effects of salt stress on H_2O_2 content in the transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene under the control of *35SCaMV promoter*, the control (negative control transgenic line) and wild-type KDML105 were determined. Figure 3.1A showed H_2O_2 contents of all plants determined on various treatment time levels (0, 1, 2, 3, 4 days). At different treatment time levels, all plants with 150 mM NaCl treatment showed an increase in H_2O_2 content with increasing time except on day 4. The highest value was observed on day 3. Based on these results, duration time of 3 days was selected for further evaluation of the plant's responses to high salinity. Figure 3.1B shows H_2O_2 content of all plants were determined on various concentrations of NaCl (0, 50, 100, 150 and 200 mM) for 3 days. The H_2O_2 contents in all plants increased with increasing salinity levels. They showed the highest value at 150 mM NaCl. However in all plants, they were decreased rapidly under 200 mM NaCl. Significantly decrease H_2O_2 content on day 4 after treated with 150 mM NaCl and 200 mM NaCl for 3 days, maybe due to salt stress-induced cell death.



Figure 3.1 Effect of high salinity on H_2O_2 content in leaves of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene (-, -, -, -) compare to the control transgenic (-) and wild-type plants (-) after expose to salt stress (150 mM NaCl) at different treatment time (0, 1, 2, 3 and 4 days)(A) and to different treatment solutions (0, 50, 100, 150 and 200 mM NaCl) for 3 days (B).

3.2 Effect of salt stress on antioxidant enzymes

Antioxidative enzymes are one of the response mechanisms against environmental stresses. As such, their activity profiles are important in the evaluation of tolerance mechanisms. To determine the response of transgenic rice plants overexpressing the *OsCaM1*-gene, the control transgenic and wild-type plants to salt induced oxidative stress, SOD, CAT, APX and GR activities were measured in leaves of seedlings grown either in normal growing conditions (0 mM NaCl treatment) or under salt stress (150 mM NaCl treatment).

SOD activities of the *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants, control transgenic and wild-type KDML 105 under the effect of salt stress and normal growing conditions are shown in Figure 3.2A. The SOD activities were increased by high salinity. Under salt stress, the SOD was increased significantly in the *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants (42.2, 39.7 and 40.8 μ mole/min/mg protein, respectively). These transgenic plants had increased SOD activity about 53% when compared to plants in normal growing conditions. While the control transgenic and wild-type plants, the SOD was increased slightly about 9%.

Salt treatment also increased significantly CAT activity in the three transgenic *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants. These transgenic plants had increased CAT activity about 33%. On the other hand, the control transgenic and wild-type plants exhibited significant decrease in CAT activity under salt stress about 24% in comparison with that of the non-salinized plants (Figure 3.2B).

The analysis of the activity of APX in transgenic rice plants overexpressing the *OsCaM1-1* gene showed significantly high activity under high salinity when compared to those of the control transgenic and wild-type plants (Figure 3.2C). In addition, APX

activities of the transgenic plants under salt stress were increased significantly about 70-85% when compared to without salt stress, while that of the control transgenic and wild-type plants were increased about 20 and 38%, respectively.

An increase in GR activity was observed in all plants under salt stress (Figure 3.2D). The transgenic rice plants overexpressing the *OsCaM1-1* gene were higher GR activity under saline conditions than the control transgenic and wild-type plants. GR activities of the transgenic plants under salt stress were increased about 65-82% when compared to non-salinized plants, while that of the control transgenic and wild-type plants were increased about 46 and 36%, respectively.





Figure 3.2 Effect of high salinity on activity levels of SOD (A), CAT (B), APX (C) and GR (D) in leaves of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene compare to the control transgenic

and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaCl) for 3 days. Data are shown as the \pm SD, and were derived from five replicates. Means with a different letter are significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Duncan's test.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

3.3 Effect of salt stress on photosynthetic pigments

Photosynthetic pigment contents (chlorophyll *a*, *b* and carotenoids) were extracted and determined from transgenic rice plants overexpressing the *OsCaM1-1* gene, the control and wild-type KDML105 plants, which grown either in normal growing conditions (0 mM NaCl treatment) or under salt stress (150 mM NaCl treatment). Salinity were had an effect on total chlorophyll, chlorophyll *a* and *b* and carotenoid contents. All photosynthetic pigments were higher in the *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants, grown under salt stress than in the control and wild-type plants (Figure 3.3). The results showed total chlorophyll (Figure 3.3A), chlorophyll *a* (Figure 3.3B) and *b* (Figure 3.3C) and carotenoid contents (Figure 3.3D) under salt stress decreased about 5, 9, 16 and 3% in transgenic plants respectively, in the control about 24, 33, 40 and 20%, in the wild-type about 27, 40, 40 and 19% when comparison with non-salinized plants.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 3.3 Effect of high salinity on total chlorophyll (A), chlorophyll a (B), chlorophyll b (C) and carotenoid (D) contents of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene compare to

the control transgenic and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaCl) for 3 days. Data are shown as the \pm SD, and were derived from five replicates. Means with a different letter are significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Duncan's test.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

3.4 Effect of salt stress on lipid peroxidation

Malonaldehyde (MDA) content was an important indicator to measure lipid peroxidation. MDA content were extracted and determined from the *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants, the control and wild-type KDML105 plants, which grown under without and with high salinity (150 mM NaCl) condition. Salt stress affected MDA content, they were significantly higher in the control transgenic and wild-type (0.046 and 0.048 µmole/g FW, respectively) than the *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants (0.031-0.035 µmole/g FW). Under high salinity, MDA contents in transgenic plants increased about 49% while that of the control transgenic and wild-type plants were increased about 97% as compared to non-salinized plants (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 Effect of high salinity on lipid peroxidation of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaC1) for 3 days. Data are shown as the \pm SD, and were derived from five replicates. Means with a different letter are significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Duncan's test.

3.5 Effect of salt stress on DPPH radical scavenging activity

DPPH assay is rapid and sensitive way to survey the antioxidant activity of a specific compounds or plant extracts. The effect of salt stress on DPPH radical scavenging activity in the transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene under the control of *35SCaMV promoter*, the control and wild-type plants were determined. Under salt stress, statistically significant increase of DPPH scavenging activity was observed in the *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants (about 70-77%) while it increased slightly in the control transgenic (about 13%) and wild-type plants (about 12%) in comparison with the without salt (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5 Effect of high salinity on DPPH radical scavenging activity of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaCl) for 3 days. Data are shown as the \pm SD, and were derived from five replicates. Means with a different letter are significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Duncan's test.

3.6 Effect of salt stress on growth

Salt stress (150 mM NaCl) significantly decreased shoot fresh and dry weight of the transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene under the control of *35SCaMV* promoter, the control and wild-type in comparison with the control without salt. The transgenic rice plants protected their growth performances under saline stress, while the control and wild-type had high reductions in their shoot fresh and dry weight. Salt stress caused about 31% reductions in shoot fresh weight in the transgenic rice plants and about 62% reductions in control and wild-type. The weight of dry shoot was reduced about 12% in the transgenic rice plants and about 34% in the control and wildtype. However, there is no statistically significant difference between the two conditions in fresh and dry weight of root in all plants (Figure 3.6).





Figure 3.6 Effect of high salinity on shoot fresh weight (A), root fresh weight (B), including shoot dry weight (C) and root dry weight (D) of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene

compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaCl) for 3 days. Data are shown as the \pm SD, and were derived from five replicates. Means with a different letter are significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Duncan's test.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

3.7 Effect of salt stress on relative growth rate

Relative growth rate (RGR) of shoots and roots in the transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene under the control of *35SCaMV* promoter, the control and wild-type were determined under 0 mM NaCl treatment and salt stress (150 mM NaCl) condition. The RGR of shoots and roots of all plants decreased significantly, except in transgenic rice plants, decreased slightly under high salinity. Moreover, the RGR of shoot in transgenic rice plants were higher than the control and wild-type under salt stress (Figure 3.7A).

Besides, results also showed that overexpression of *OsCaM1-1* gene in the KDML105 rice cultivar was found to grow and enhance the plant adaptation to salt stress better than the control and wild-type. The three transgenic lines overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene show less differences in growth and development than the control and wild-type. The transgenic plants increased vigour, whereas the control and wild-type displayed reduced vigour with many wilting leaves (Figure 3.8).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University


Figure 3.7 Effect of high salinity on the relative growth rate (RGR) in shoot (A) and root (B) of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0 and 150 mM NaCl) for 3 days. Data are shown as the \pm SD, and were derived from five replicates. Means with a different letter are significantly different at *p* < 0.05 according to Duncan's test.



Figure 3.8 The phenotype comparison of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants under normal (0 mM NaCl) (A) and salt-stress conditions (150 mM NaCl) (B) for 3 days.

3.8 Effect of salt stress on relative water content

Relative water content in leaves of transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene, the control and wild-type plants were determined. Fresh leaf was measured from plant grown either in normal growing condition (0 mM NaCl treatment) or under salt stress (150 mM NaCl treatment). Relative water content in the leaves of the control and wild-type plants grown under salt stress decreased significantly (about 46%) while RWC in the *OsCaM1-1* overexpressing rice plants decreased slightly (about 17%) (Figure 3.9) when compared to without salt stress.





Figure 3.9 Effect of high salinity on relative water content (RWC) of the three transgenic 'KDML 105' rice *Oryza sativa* L. overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene compare to the control transgenic and wild-type plants after expose to salt stress (0, 150 mM NaC1) for 3 days. Data are shown as the \pm SD, and were derived from five replicates. Means with a different letter are significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Duncan's test.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

To examine the effect of *OsCaM1-1* overexpression in transgenic rice and involved in salt tolerance mechanisms, three transgenic rice harboring the *35SCaMV*-*OsCaM1-1* and the transgenic line harboring T-DNA from pCAMBIA1301 alone as negative control have been examined the effect of salt stress compared to wild-type plants. The results showed that the H₂O₂ content, lipid peroxidation, DPPH radical scavenging activity, RGR, and activities of antioxidant enzymes (SOD, APX and GR) in all plants were increased, while the CAT activity (except in the control and wild-type plants), RWC and photosynthetic pigments were decreased under salt stress. H₂O₂ content in all plants increased with increasing level of the NaCl treatments and exposure time, the findings of this study indicated that exposure time salinity level were two important factors affecting the plant development under salinity condition.

In many plant (such as tobacco, citrus, wheat and soybean) reports, it was observed that production of ROS increased under saline conditions (Hasegawa et al. 2000) and ROS-mediated membrane damage has been demonstrated to be a major cause of the cellular toxicity by salinity in different crop plants such as rice, tomato, citrus, pea and mustard (Ahmed 2009; Dionisio-Sese and Tobita 1998; Gueta-Dahan et al. 1997; Mittova et al. 2004). Salt stress produced ion leakage, indicating injury to membrane integrity, which could be affected by ROS formed during leaf photosynthesis or respiration, enhancing lipid peroxidation of the membranes (Lechno et al. 1997; Savoure´ A 1999). Lipid peroxidation measured as MDA content is

considered to be indicator of oxidative damage from stress. Here, lipid peroxidation (MDA content) was increased by salinity in all plants, which is consistent with previous reports in cotton (Meloni et al. 2003) and *N.plumbaginifolia* (Savoure⁷ A 1999).

Most crops do not grow well on soils that contain salts. One reason is that salt causes a reduction in rate and amount of water that plant roots can take up from the soil. Excess salt concentration also enhances the osmotic potential of soil matrix which restricts the water uptake by plants.

 H_2O_2 has important role in redox signaling in regulating normal processes, including oxidative stress (Rhee 2006). H₂O₂, a product of SOD reaction was a strong oxidant and it initiates localized oxidative damage leading to disruption of metabolic function and losses of cellular integrity at sites where it accumulates. Excessive levels of H₂O₂ could be minimized through the activities of CAT and different peroxidases. While mitochondria and plastids are the major sources of H₂O₂ in the cells, peroxisomes and glyoxisomes also contain SOD, CAT and APX, which are responsible for its production and scavenging (Jimenez et al. 1997; Yamaguchi et al. 1995). CAT and APX, two potential scavengers of H₂O₂, maintain its level and prevented uncontrolled export of this toxic species from organelles to cytosol and competed to remove H₂O₂ (Valyova et al. 2012). GR, one of the important enzymes in ascorbate-glutathione cycle, catalyzes the NADPH-dependent reduction of oxidized glutathione and is important in protecting many plants from oxidative stress caused by salt stress (Foyer et al. 1991). SOD activity level was found to correlate with the change in the H_2O_2 content. These results suggest that H₂O₂ increase probably results from the association of increased SOD (which produces H₂O₂), APX (which remove H₂O₂) and GR activities but not CAT activity, in addition to other possible mechanisms not investigated in the present experiment. Increased SOD, GR and APX activities agree with previous reports in moderately salinity tolerant wheat genotype (Sairam et al. 2005) and in pea leaves (Hernández and Almansa 2002), whereas in tobacco cultivar By-2, where salt stress had no effect on SOD activity (Hoque et al. 2007). Some reports showed that salt stresses results in an increase in the CAT activity, such as in the wild salt-tolerance tomato (*Lycopersicon pennellii*) (Mittova et al. 2004) and sea plantain (*Plantago maritima*) (Sekmen et al. 2007). But some reports agree with results showing, a decreased CAT activity in the rice cultivar *Dongjin* seedlings under drought stress (Lee et al. 2001), mung bean (*Vigna radiata*) (Hossain et al. 2011) and tobacco cultivar By-2 (Hoque et al. 2007) under salt stress (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2011). So an increased H₂O₂ generation in the leaves of salt-stressed rice plants may function in the signaling of oxidative stress, which leads to induction of some enzymes.

Although salinity treatments caused significant increase in H_2O_2 content and lipid peroxidation in plants, but the transgenic rice improved growth under salinity by alleviating oxidative stress, H_2O_2 content and lipid peroxidation decreased while DPPH radical scavenging activity, RGR, photosynthetic pigments and activities of antioxidant enzymes associated with the H_2O_2 scavenging system increased when compared to the control transgenic and wild-type plants. This suggests that *OsCaM1-1* could protect the plants from toxic effects of NaCl by reducing the H_2O_2 content. Overexpression of *OsCaM1-1* gene in transgenic rice plants has showed improvement in protection against oxidative stress. The results show that enzyme activities include SOD, APX and GR in all plants were increased by salinity and were higher in transgenic plants than the control transgenic and wild-type KDML105 plants. CAT was also increased in transgenic plants under salinity but it decreased in control and wild-type. The decreasing of CAT by salt stress in the control and wild-type plants may indicate that the plant is not able to maintain protection against active oxygen under salt stress particularly at high salt concentrations and may be due to salt stress-induced damage to the enzyme. Further, overexpression of *OsCaM1-1* gene may induce cooperation of protective enzymes such as SOD, CAT, and APX to eliminate ROS which increased by salt stress and keep a homeostasis between producing and cleaning of ROS and reduce the level of free radicals. This way, injury to cells could be decreased or avoided increasing ROS.

In this study, GR activity was also increased in all plants, particularly higher in transgenic plants when compared to control and wild-type under salt stress. This result suggests that OsCaM1-1 gene may help transgenic plants more active in exhibiting ascorbate-glutathione cycle and reducing H₂O₂.

Photosynthetic pigments, chlorophyll content such as total chl, chl *a* and chl *b* and also carotenoid contents were decreased in all plants due to salt stress, but no significant changes in the transgenic plants when compared to the control and wild-type plants. The effect of salinity on photosynthetic pigment contents as depletion may be considered to be a result of the increasing activity of the chlorophyll-degrading enzyme chlorophyllase (Reddy 1986) leading to degradation of β -carotene and formation of zeaxanthins, which are apparently involved in protection against photoinhibition (Sharma and Hall 1991). Rice plants overexpressing the *OsCaM1-1* gene show enhanced tolerance to salinity stress, as indicated by the higher chlorophyll and carotenoid contents. These results may suggest that *OsCaM1-1* gene protect photosynthetic apparatus from salt induced oxidative stress and helps the transgenic plants maintain their photosystem better than the control and wild-type. The chlorophyll

content was protected probably because of the high antioxidant enzyme activities that prevented degradation of leaf chlorophyll (Sevengor 2011).

Furthermore, the loss of chlorophylls under salt stress could be related to photoinhibition or ROS formation, as demonstrated by the increased lipid peroxidation (Kato and Shimizu 1985). The significant raise in MDA content in the control and wildtype may be due to decrease of salt dependant up regulation of its antioxidant enzyme system under salinity stress. However, the three transgenic plants overexpressing OsCaM1-1 gene showed lesser MDA levels than the control and wild-type plants. This result shows that overexpression of OsCaM1-1 gene had higher capacity for the scavenging of ROS generated by salinity than the control and wild-type. Scavenging of DPPH free radical is the basis of a common antioxidant assay (Sharma and Bhat 2009). Here, DPPH radical scavenging activity showed a capacity of plants to fight stress, especially the OsCaM1-1 overexpressing plants. Overexpression of OsCaM1-1 gene may promote the transgenic plants by induced scavenging activity to increase the antioxidant capacity to detoxify ROS. The RGR of the OsCaM1-1 overexpressing plants was found to be maintained better than that of the control and wild-type plants when grown under salt stress. These results indicate that overexpression of the OsCaM1-1 gene also helps improve growth and salt stress tolerant in transgenic plants.

Besides, one of the early symptoms of salinity stress in plant tissue is the decrease of RWC. Extent of salt-induced effects on RWC has been used as one the vital water relation parameters for assessing degree of salt tolerance in plants (Noreen and Ashraf 2008; Siddiqi et al. 2009). RWC in the leaves of plants grown under salinity stress decreased significantly in all plants compared to those grown in non-saline conditions. This reduction of RWC in stressed plants may be associated with a decrease

in plant vigor and was observed in many plant species such as rice and kidney bean (Halder and Burrage 2003; Lopez et al. 2002). However, the three transgenic plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* showed less decline in RWC than the control and wild-type plants. These results suggest that plants overexpression of the *OsCaM1-1* helps plants maintain ability to absorb more water from the nutrient.

Previous report has shown that *OsCaM1-1* mRNA levels strongly increased in response to salt treatment (Phean-o-pas et al. 2005). And Saeng-ngam and workers (2012) also showed that *OsCaM1*signaling is likely to play an important role in ABA biosynthesis (ABA levels have been reported to be key messengers in salt-stress responses (Ghassemian et al. 2008; Guo et al. 2008; Hong-Bo et al. 2008; Mahajan et al. 2008)) and the level of *OsCaM1-1* gene expression, presumably contribute to salt resistance in rice. These results suggest that the *OsCaM1-1* gene product functions as a sensor for salt stress-induced calcium signals that helps the plant to cope with salt stress. The results showed that at high salinity, the three transgenic plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene had significantly higher scavenging activity than the control and wild-type, indicating that the transgenic plants still have more capacity to cope with salt stress.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS

Calcium signaling has been implicated in transducing signals from environmental changes into adaptive responses in plants. However, the mechanisms of how calcium signals are used to mediate stress responses have not been fully understood. Here, another possible roles of the *OsCaM1-1* gene which its expression is highly induced were investigated the antioxidative system. Transgenic rice plants overexpressing *OsCaM1-1* gene exhibited higher in antioxidant enzyme activities, photosynthetic pigments, ROS scavenging activity including growth rate and RWC than the control and wild-type KDML105 plants under salinity. The results obtained here suggested that the *OsCaM1-1* gene product may function as sensor for salt stressinduced calcium signals that lead to increasing the activity of antioxidant system, which in turn helps the plant has a better protection against salt stress.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

REFERENCES

- Ahmed S (2009) Effect of soil salinity on the yield and yield components of mungbean. Pak J Bot 41 (1):263-268
- Apel K, Hirt H (2004) Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:373-399
- Arnon DI (1949) Copper enzymes in isolated chloroplasts, polyphenoxidase in *beta vulgaris*. Plant Physiology 24: 1-15
- Asada K (2006) Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. Plant physiology 141 (2):391-396
- Badawi GH, Yamauchi Y, Shimada E, Sasaki R, Kawano N, Tanaka K, Tanaka K (2004) Enhanced tolerance to salt stress and water deficit by overexpressing superoxide dismutase in tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum) chloroplasts. Plant Science 166 (4):919-928
- Barrs HD, Weatherley PE (1962) A re-examination of the relative turgidity technique for estimating water deficits in leaves. Australian Journal of Biological Sciences 15:413-428
- Beauchamp C, Fridovich I (1971) Superoxide dismutase: Improved assays and an assay applicable to acrylamide gels. Anal. Biochem. Review. 44, 276-287
- Blokhina O, Fagerstedt KV (2010) Reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide in plant mitochondria: origin and redundant regulatory systems. Physiologia Plantarum 138 (4):447-462
- Boguszewska D, Grudkowska M, Zagdańska B (2010) Drought-responsive antioxidant enzymes in potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). Potato research 53 (4):373-382

- Bor M, Özdemir F, Türkan I (2003) The effect of salt stress on lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in leaves of sugar beet *Beta vulgaris* L. and wild beet Beta maritima
 L. Plant Science 164 (1):77-84
- Bowler C, Chua N-H (1994) Emerging themes of plant signal transduction. The Plant Cell 6 (11):1529

Bradford MM (1976) A dye binding assay for protein. Anal. Biochem. 72:248-254

- Brand-Williams W, Cuvelier ME, Berset C (1995) Use of free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. Lebensm Wiss Technology; 28:25-30
- Bright J, Desikan R, Hancock JT, Weir IS, Neill SJ (2006) ABA-induced NO generation and stomatal closure in Arabidopsis are dependent on H₂O₂ synthesis. The Plant journal : for cell and molecular biology 45 (1):113-122
- Britt AB (1999) Molecular genetics of DNA repair in higher plants. Trends in plant science 4 (1):20-25
- Chin D, Means AR (2000) Calmodulin: a prototypical calcium sensor. Trends in cell biology 10 (8):322-328
- Chinnusamy V, Jagendorf A, Zhu J-K (2005) Understanding and improving salt tolerance in plants. Crop Science 45 (2):437-448
- Chinnusamy V, Schumaker K, Zhu JK (2004) Molecular genetic perspectives on crosstalk and specificity in abiotic stress signalling in plants. Journal of experimental botany 55 (395):225-236
- Corpas FJ, Chaki M, Fernández-Ocaña A, Valderrama R, Palma JM, Carreras A, Begara-Morales JC, Airaki M, del Río LA, Barroso JB (2008) Metabolism of reactive nitrogen species in pea plants under abiotic stress conditions. Plant and cell physiology 49 (11):1711-1722

- Crivici A, Ikura M (1995) Molecular and structural basis of target recognition by calmodulin. Annual review of biophysics and biomolecular structure 24 (1):85-116
- De Vos C, Schat H, Vooijs R, Ernst W(1989) Copper induced damage to the permeability barrier in roots of *Silene cucubalus*. J Plant Physiol 135:164–165
- Dietz K-J, Tavakoli N, Kluge C, Mimura T, Sharma S, Harris G, Chardonnens A, Golldack D (2001) Significance of the V-type ATPase for the adaptation to stressful growth conditions and its regulation on the molecular and biochemical level. Journal of experimental botany 52 (363):1969-1980
- Dionisio-Sese ML, Tobita S (1998) Antioxidant responses of rice seedlings to salinity stress. Plant Science 135 (1):1-9
- Foreman J, Demidchik V, Bothwell JH, Mylona P, Miedema H, Torres MA, Linstead P, Costa S, Brownlee C, Jones JD (2003) Reactive oxygen species produced by NADPH oxidase regulate plant cell growth. Nature 422 (6930):442-446
- Foyer C, Lelandais M, Galap C, Kunert KJ (1991) Effects of elevated cytosolic glutathione reductase activity on the cellular glutathione pool and photosynthesis in leaves under normal and stress conditions. Plant physiology 97 (3):863-872
- Foyer CH, Noctor G (2003) Redox sensing and signalling associated with reactive oxygen in chloroplasts, peroxisomes and mitochondria. Physiologia Plantarum 119 (3):355-364
- Gardner FP, Pearce RB and Mitchell RL (1985) Physiology of Crop Plants. Iowa state University Press: 187-208

- Ghassemian M, Lutes J, Chang HS, Lange I, Chen W, Zhu T, Wang X, Lange BM (2008) Abscisic acid-induced modulation of metabolic and redox control pathways in Arabidopsis thaliana. Phytochemistry 69 (17):2899-2911
- Ghezzi P, Bonetto V (2003) Redox proteomics: identification of oxidatively modified proteins. Proteomics 3 (7):1145-1153
- Gill SS, Tuteja N (2010a) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant physiology and biochemistry : PPB / Societe francaise de physiologie vegetale 48 (12):909-930.
- Gill SS, Tuteja N (2010b) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 48 (12):909-930
- Guan Z, Chai T, Zhang Y, Xu J, Wei W (2009) Enhancement of Cd tolerance in transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing a Cd-induced catalase cDNA. Chemosphere 76 (5):623-630
- Gueta-Dahan Y, Yaniv Z, Zilinskas BA, Ben-Hayyim G (1997) Salt and oxidative stress: similar and specific responses and their relation to salt tolerance in citrus. Planta 203 (4):460-469
- Guo J, Zeng Q, Emami M, Ellis BE, Chen JG (2008) The GCR2 gene family is not required for ABA control of seed germination and early seedling development in Arabidopsis. PloS one 3 (8):e2982
- Guo Y, Qiu Q-S, Quintero FJ, Pardo JM, Ohta M, Zhang C, Schumaker KS, Zhu J-K (2004) Transgenic evaluation of activated mutant alleles of SOS2 reveals a critical requirement for its kinase activity and C-terminal regulatory domain for salt tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Cell 16 (2):435-449

- Halder KP, Burrage SW (2003) Drought Stress Effects on Water Relations of Rice Grown in Nutrient Film Technique. Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences
- Halliwell B, and Gutteridge, J.M.C. (1989) Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine, Ed2. Clarendon Press, Oxford
- Han C, Liu Q, Yang Y (2009) Short-term effects of experimental warming and enhanced ultraviolet-B radiation on photosynthesis and antioxidant defense of Picea asperata seedlings. Plant growth regulation 58 (2):153-162
- Harmon AC, Gribskov M, Harper JF (2000) CDPKs–a kinase for every Ca²⁺ signal? Trends in plant science 5 (4):154-159
- Hasanuzzaman M, Hossain M, Fujita M (2011) Nitric oxide modulates antioxidant defense and the methylglyoxal detoxification system and reduces salinity-induced damage of wheat seedlings. Plant Biotechnol Rep 5 (4):353-365
- Hasegawa PM (2013) Sodium (Na⁺) homeostasis and salt tolerance of plants. Environmental and Experimental Botany 92:19-31
- Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA, Zhu J-K, Bohnert HJ (2000) Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salinity. Annual review of plant biology 51 (1):463-499
- Hernández JA, Almansa MS (2002) Short-term effects of salt stress on antioxidant systems and leaf water relations of pea leaves. Physiologia Plantarum 115 (2):251-257
- Hofmann A, Proust J, Dorowski A, Schantz R, Huber R (2000) Annexin 24 from Capsicum annuum X-ray structure and biochemical characterization. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275 (11):8072-8082

- Hong-Bo S, Li-Ye C, Ming-An S, Shi-Qing L, Ji-Cheng Y (2008) Bioengineering plant resistance to abiotic stresses by the global calcium signal system. Biotechnology Advances 26 (6):503-510
- Hong-Bo S, Xiao-Yan C, Li-Ye C, Xi-Ning Z, Gang W, Yong-Bing Y, Chang-Xing Z,
 Zan-Min H (2006) Investigation on the relationship of proline with wheat antidrought under soil water deficits. Colloids and surfaces B, Biointerfaces 53 (1):113-119
- Hoque MA, Banu MNA, Okuma E, Amako K, Nakamura Y, Shimoishi Y, Murata Y (2007) Exogenous proline and glycinebetaine increase NaCl-induced ascorbate–glutathione cycle enzyme activities, and proline improves salt tolerance more than glycinebetaine in tobacco Bright Yellow-2 suspensioncultured cells. Journal of plant physiology 164 (11):1457-1468
- Hossain MA, Hasanuzzaman M, Fujita M (2011) Coordinate induction of antioxidant defense and glyoxalase system by exogenous proline and glycinebetaine is correlated with salt tolerance in mung bean. Frontiers of Agriculture in China 5 (1):1-14
- Jiang M, Zhang J (2001) Effect of abscisic acid on active oxygen species, antioxidative defence system and oxidative damage in leaves of maize seedlings. Plant and Cell Physiology 42 (11):1265-1273
- Jimenez A, Hernandez JA, del Rio LA, Sevilla F (1997) Evidence for the presence of the ascorbate-glutathione cycle in mitochondria and peroxisomes of pea leaves. Plant physiology 114 (1):275-284

- Kato M, Shimizu S (1985) Chlorophyll metabolism in higher plants VI. Involvement of peroxidase in chlorophyll degradation. Plant and cell physiology 26 (7):1291-1301
- Knight H (1999) Calcium signaling during abiotic stress in plants. International review of cytology 195:269-324
- Lechno S, Zamski E, Tel-Or E (1997) Salt stress-induced responses in cucumber plants. Journal of Plant Physiology 150 (1–2):206-211
- Lee DH, Kim YS, Lee CB (2001) The inductive responses of the antioxidant enzymes by salt stress in the rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Journal of Plant Physiology 158 (6):737-745
- Levine A, Pennell RI, Alvarez ME, Palmer R, Lamb C (1996) Calcium-mediated apoptosis in a plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. Current Biology 6 (4):427-437
- Li J, Jin H (2007) Regulation of brassinosteroid signaling. Trends in plant science 12 (1):37-41
- Li L, Qu R, de Kochko A, Fauquet C, Beachy RN (1993) An improved rice transformation system using the biolistic method. Plant Cell Reports 12 (5):250-255
- Limpinuntana V (1978) Physiological aspects of adaptation of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) and barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) to low oxygen concentrations in the root environment. PhD thesis, University of Australia, Australia
- Liu J, Zhu J-K (1998) A calcium sensor homolog required for plant salt tolerance. Science 280 (5371):1943-1945

Lopez CML, Takahashi H, Yamazaki S (2002) Plant–Water Relations of Kidney Bean Plants Treated with NaCl and Foliarly Applied Glycinebetaine. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science 188 (2):73-80

Maas EVaGH (1977) Crop salt tolerance - current assessment. J Irrig and Drainage Div

- Maathuis FJ, Amtmann A (1999) K^+ nutrition and Na⁺ toxicity: the basis of cellular K^+/Na^+ ratios. Annals of Botany 84 (2):123-133
- Mahajan S, Pandey GK, Tuteja N (2008) Calcium and salt-stress signaling in plants: shedding light on SOS pathway. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 471 (2):146-158
- Maiti R, Maiti LE, Maiti S, Maiti AM, Maiti M, Maiti H (1996) Genotypic Variability in Maize Cultivars *Zea mays* L.) for Resistance to Drought and Salinity at the Seedling Stage. Journal of plant physiology 148 (6):741-744
- Mallick N, Mohn FH (2000) Reactive oxygen species: response of algal cells. Journal of Plant Physiology 157 (2):183-193
- Mansour MMF, Salama KH (2004) Cellular basis of salinity tolerance in plants. Environmental and Experimental Botany 52 (2):113-122
- Martínez-Atienza J, Jiang X, Garciadeblas B, Mendoza I, Zhu J-K, Pardo JM, Quintero FJ (2007) Conservation of the salt overly sensitive pathway in rice. Plant Physiology 143 (2):1001-1012
- McCord JM, Fridovich I (1969) Superoxide dismutase an enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). Journal of Biological chemistry 244 (22):6049-6055

- Meloni DA, Oliva MA, Martinez CA, Cambraia J (2003) Photosynthesis and activity of superoxide dismutase, peroxidase and glutathione reductase in cotton under salt stress. Environmental and Experimental Botany 49 (1):69-76
- Mhamdi A, Hager J, Chaouch S, Queval G, Han Y, Taconnat L, Saindrenan P, Gouia H, Issakidis-Bourguet E, Renou J-P (2010a) Arabidopsis GLUTATHIONE REDUCTASE1 plays a crucial role in leaf responses to intracellular hydrogen peroxide and in ensuring appropriate gene expression through both salicylic acid and jasmonic acid signaling pathways. Plant physiology 153 (3):1144-1160
- Mhamdi A, Queval G, Chaouch S, Vanderauwera S, Van Breusegem F, Noctor G (2010b) Catalase function in plants: a focus on Arabidopsis mutants as stressmimic models. Journal of Experimental Botany:erq282
- Mittler R (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends in plant science 7 (9):405-410
- Mittler R (2006) Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. Trends in plant science 11 (1):15-19
- Mittova V, Guy M, Tal M, Volokita M (2004) Salinity up-regulates the antioxidative system in root mitochondria and peroxisomes of the wild salt-tolerant tomato species Lycopersicon pennellii. Journal of experimental botany 55 (399):1105-1113
- Moller IM, Sweetlove LJ (2010) ROS signalling-specificity is required. Trends Plant Sci 15 (7):370-374
- Moussa HR, Abdel-Aziz SM (2008) Comparative response of drought tolerant and drought sensitive maize genotypes to water stress. Aust J Crop Sci 1 (1):31-36

- Nakano Y, Asada K (1981) Hydrogen peroxide is scavenged by ascorbate-specific peroxidase in spinach chloroplasts. Plant Cell Physiol. 22, 867–880
- Niu X, Bressan RA, Hasegawa PM, Pardo JM (1995) Ion homeostasis in NaCl stress environments. Plant physiology 109 (3):735
- Noctor G, Foyer CH (1998a) Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping active oxygen under control. Annual review of plant biology 49 (1):249-279
- Noctor G, Foyer CH (1998b) A re-evaluation of the ATP: NADPH budget during C3 photosynthesis: a contribution from nitrate assimilation and its associated respiratory activity? Journal of Experimental Botany 49 (329):1895-1908
- Noctor G, VELJOVIC-JOVANOVIC S, DRISCOLL S, NOVITSKAYA L, FOYER CH (2002) Drought and oxidative load in the leaves of C3 plants: a predominant role for photorespiration? Annals of Botany 89 (7):841-850
- Noreen S, Ashraf M (2008) ALLEVIATION OF ADVERSE EFFECTS OF SALT STRESS ON SUNFLOWER (HELIANTHUS ANNUUS L.) BY EXOGENOUS APPLICATION OF SALICYLIC ACID: GROWTH AND PHOTOSYNTHESIS.
- Oh D-H, Lee SY, Bressan RA, Yun D-J, Bohnert HJ (2010) Intracellular consequences of SOS1 deficiency during salt stress. Journal of Experimental Botany 61 (4):1205-1213
- Otoch MdLO, Sobreira ACM, de Aragão MEF, Orellano EG, Lima MdGS, de Melo DF (2001) Salt modulation of vacuolar H+-ATPase and H+-Pyrophosphatase activities in Vigna unguiculata. Journal of Plant Physiology 158 (5):545-551

- Pang C-H, Wang B-S (2008) Oxidative Stress and Salt Tolerance in Plants. In: Lüttge U, Beyschlag W, Murata J (eds) Progress in Botany, vol 69. Progress in Botany.
 Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp 231-245
- Phean-o-pas S, Punteeranurak P, Buaboocha T (2005) Calcium signaling-mediated and differential induction of calmodulin gene expression by stress in Oryza sativa
 L. BMB Reports 38 (4):432-439
- Plieth C (2005) Calcium: just another regulator in the machinery of life? Annals of Botany 96 (1):1-8
- Puntarulo S, Sanchez RA, Boveris A (1988) Hydrogen peroxide metabolism in soybean embryonic axes at the onset of germination. Plant Physiol 86 (2):626-630
- Quan LJ, Zhang B, Shi WW, Li HY (2008) Hydrogen peroxide in plants: a versatile molecule of the reactive oxygen species network. Journal of integrative plant biology 50 (1):2-18
- Quintero FJ, Martinez-Atienza J, Villalta I, Jiang X, Kim WY, Ali Z, Fujii H, Mendoza I, Yun DJ, Zhu JK, Pardo JM (2011) Activation of the plasma membrane Na/H antiporter Salt-Overly-Sensitive 1 (SOS1) by phosphorylation of an autoinhibitory C-terminal domain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108 (6):2611-2616
- Quintero FJ, Ohta M, Shi H, Zhu JK, Pardo JM (2002) Reconstitution in yeast of the Arabidopsis SOS signaling pathway for Na+ homeostasis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99 (13):9061-9066
- Racchi ML (2013) Antioxidant Defenses in Plants with Attention to Prunus and Citrus spp. Antioxidants 2 (4):340-369

- Reddy MP, and Vora, A.B. (1986) Changes in pigment composition, Hill reaction activity and saccharides metabolism in Bajra (Pennisetum typhoides S & H) leves under NaCl salinity. Photosynthetica 20 (1):50-55
- Reddy MP, Sanish S, Iyengar ERR (1993) Compartmentation of ions and organic compounds inSalicornia brachiata Roxb. Biol Plant 35 (4):547-553
- Rhee SG (2006) Cell signaling. H2O2, a necessary evil for cell signaling. Science 312 (5782):1882-1883
- Rinalducci S, Murgiano L, Zolla L (2008) Redox proteomics: basic principles and future perspectives for the detection of protein oxidation in plants. J Exp Bot 59 (14):3781-3801
- Rodriguez-Navarro A, Rubio F (2006) High-affinity potassium and sodium transport systems in plants. J Exp Bot 57 (5):1149-1160
- Saeng-ngam S, Takpirom W, Buaboocha T, Chadchawan S (2012). The role of the OsCam1-1 salt stress sensor in ABA accumulation and salt tolerance in rice. Journal of Plant Biology 55: 198-208
- Sairam RK, Srivastava GC, Agarwal S, Meena RC (2005) Differences in antioxidant activity in response to salinity stress in tolerant and susceptible wheat genotypes. Biol Plant 49 (1):85-91
- Savoure´ A TD, Davey M, Hua XJ, Mauro S, Van Montagu M, Inze` D, Verbruggen N (1999) NaCl and CuZnSO₄ treatments trigger distinct oxidative defence mechanism in *Nicotiana plumbaginifolia* L.. Plant Cell Environ 22: 387–396 22:387–396
- Scandalios JG, Guan L, Polidoros AN (1997) Catalases in Plants: Gene Structure, Properties, Regulation, and Expression. 1997

- Sekmen AH, Turkan I, Takio S (2007) Differential responses of antioxidative enzymes and lipid peroxidation to salt stress in salt-tolerant Plantago maritima and saltsensitive Plantago media. Physiol Plant 131 (3):399-411
- Serrano R, Mulet JM, Rios G, Marquez JA, Larrinoa IiFd, Leube MP, Mendizabal I, Pascual-Ahuir A, Proft M, Ros R, Montesinos C (1999) A glimpse of the mechanisms of ion homeostasis during salt stress. Journal of Experimental Botany 50 (Special Issue):1023-1036
- Sevengor S, Yasar, F., Kusvuran, S., and Ellialtioglu, S. (2011) The effect of salt stress on growth, chlorophyll content, lipid peroxidation and antioxidative enzymes of pumpkin seedling. African Journal of Agricultural Research 6:4920-4924
- Shannon MC, Rhoades JD, Draper JH, Scardaci SC, Spyres MD (1998) Assessment of Salt Tolerance in Rice Cultivars in Response to Salinity Problems in California. Crop Science 38 (2):394-398
- Sharma OP, Bhat TK (2009) DPPH antioxidant assay revisited. Food Chemistry 113 (4):1202-1205
- Sharma P, Jha AB, Dubey RS, Pessarakli M (2012) Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants under Stressful Conditions. Journal of Botany 2012:26
- Sharma P, Shanker Dubey R (2005) Modulation of nitrate reductase activity in rice seedlings under aluminium toxicity and water stress: role of osmolytes as enzyme protectant. Journal of Plant Physiology 162 (8):854-864
- Sharma PK, Hall DO (1991) Interaction of Salt Stress and Photoinhibition on Photosynthesis in Barley and Sorghum. Journal of Plant Physiology 138 (5):614-619

- SHARMA SaV, P. E. (2010) Mechanisms independent of abscisic acid (ABA) or proline feedback have a predominant role in transcriptional regulation of proline metabolism during low water potential and stress recovery. Plant, Cell & Environment 33:1838–1851
- Sherwin HW, Farrant JM (1998) Protection mechanisms against excess light in the resurrection plants *Craterostigma wilmsii* and *Xerophyta viscosa*. Plant Growth Regulation 24, 203–210
- Shi H, Ishitani M, Kim C, Zhu JK (2000) The Arabidopsis thaliana salt tolerance gene SOS1 encodes a putative Na+/H+ antiporter. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97 (12):6896-6901
- Siddiqi EH, Ashraf M, Hussain M, Jamil A (2009) Assessment of intercultivar variation for salt tolerance in safflower (Carthamus tinctorius L.) using gas exchange characteristics as selection criteria. Pak J Bot 41 (5):2251-2259
- Siefermann-Harms D (1987) The light-harvesting and protective functions of carotenoids in photosynthetic membranes. Physiologia Plantarum 69 (3):561-568
- Smeekens S, Rook F (1997) Sugar Sensing and Sugar-Mediated Signal Transduction in Plants. Plant Physiol 115 (1):7-13
- Smirnoff N (1995) Environment and plant metabolism: flexibility and acclimation. BIOS Scientific publishers
- Smirnoff N (2000) Ascorbic acid: metabolism and functions of a multi-facetted molecule. Current opinion in plant biology 3 (3):229-235
- Snedden WA, Fromm H (1998) Calmodulin, calmodulin-related proteins and plant responses to the environment. Trends in Plant Science 3 (8):299-304

- Song WY, Zhang ZB, Shao HB, Guo XL, Cao HX, Zhao HB, Fu ZY, Hu XJ (2008) Relationship between calcium decoding elements and plant abiotic-stress resistance. International journal of biological sciences 4 (2):116-125
- Strynadka NC, James MN (1989) Crystal structures of the helix-loop-helix calciumbinding proteins. Annual review of biochemistry 58 (1):951-999
- Tanou G, Job C, Rajjou L, Arc E, Belghazi M, Diamantidis G, Molassiotis A, Job D (2009) Proteomics reveals the overlapping roles of hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in the acclimation of citrus plants to salinity. The Plant journal : for cell and molecular biology 60 (5):795-804
- Tester M, Davenport R (2003) Na+ tolerance and Na+ transport in higher plants. Ann Bot 91 (5):503-527

Torres MA (2010) ROS in biotic interactions. Physiol Plant 138 (4):414-429

- Tuteja N (2007) Mechanisms of high salinity tolerance in plants. Methods Enzymol 428:419-438
- Valyova M, Stoyanov S, Markovska Y, Ganeva Y (2012) Evaluation of in vitro antioxidant activity and free radical scavenging potential of variety of Tagetes erecta L. flowers growing in Bulgaria. International Journal of Applied Research in Natural Products; Vol 5, No 2 (2012)
- Van Eldik LJ, Watterson DM (1998) 1 Calmodulin and Calcium Signal Transduction:An Introduction. In: Watterson LJVEM (ed) Calmodulin and Signal Transduction. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 1-15
- Wang B, Lüttge U, Ratajczak R (2001) Effects of salt treatment and osmotic stress on V-ATPase and V-PPase in leaves of the halophyte Suaeda salsa. Journal of Experimental Botany 52 (365):2355-2365

- Wang L, Liu Y, Ma K (1999) The role of calcium in promotion of proline accumulation induced by salt stress in fig (*Ficus carica* L.) cells. Acta Phytophysiol Sinica 25 (1):38-42
- White PJ, Broadley MR (2003) Calcium in Plants. Annals of Botany 92 (4):487-511
- Willekens H, Chamnongpol S, Davey M, Schraudner M, Langebartels C, Van Montagu M, Inze D, Van Camp W (1997) Catalase is a sink for H₂O₂ and is indispensable for stress defence in C3 plants. Embo j 16 (16):4806-4816
- Willekens H, Inzé D, Van Montagu M, van Camp W (1995) Catalases in plants. Mol Breeding 1 (3):207-228
- Wu SJ, Ding L, Zhu JK (1996) SOS1, a Genetic Locus Essential for Salt Tolerance and Potassium Acquisition. The Plant Cell 8 (4):617-627
- Yamaguchi K, Mori H, Nishimura M (1995) A novel isoenzyme of ascorbate peroxidase localized on glyoxysomal and leaf peroxisomal membranes in pumpkin. Plant & cell physiology 36 (6):1157-1162
- Yang T, Poovaiah BW (2002) Hydrogen peroxide homeostasis: activation of plant catalase by calcium/calmodulin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99 (6):4097-4102
- Zhu J-K (2003) Regulation of ion homeostasis under salt stress. Current opinion in plant biology 6 (5):441-445
- Zielinski RE (1998) CALMODULIN AND CALMODULIN-BINDING PROTEINS IN PLANTS. Annual review of plant physiology and plant molecular biology 49:697-725

APPENDICES



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

APPENDIX A

Chemical solution

1. Extraction buffer

H₂O₂ extraction buffer

0.05 M Potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0

0.68	g
0.87	g
	0.68 0.87

Adjust pH utilizing both solutions, and make up the volume to 100 ml with distilled water.

Antioxidant enzyme extraction buffer

0.5 M Sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.5

NaH ₂ PO ₄	6.0	g
Na ₂ HPO ₄	7.1	g

Adjust pH utilizing both solutions, and make up the volume to 100 ml with distilled water.

with distinct water

1 mM EDTA

EDTA 0.04 g

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 100 ml.

1 M DTT

DTT	0.15 g
-----	--------

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 1 ml.

5 mM Ascorbic acid

Ascorbic acid	0.09	g
---------------	------	---

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 100 ml.

Working solution:

0.5 M Sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.5	20	ml
1 mM EDTA	50	ml
1 M DTT	50	μl
5 mM Ascorbic acid	20	ml
Protease inhibitor	100	μl

Make up the volume to 100 ml with distilled water and store at 4 °C.

2. Measurement of H₂O₂ content

1% TiCl₄ in conc. HCl

TiCl ₄	0.58	ml
conc HCl	99.42	ml

Prepare on ice in the fume hood and store at 4 °C in a dark place.

3. Antioxidant enzyme assay

0.5 M Potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.0

KH ₂ PO ₄	6.8	g
K ₂ HPO ₄	8.7	g

Adjust pH utilizing both solutions, and make up the volume to 100 ml with distilled water.

0.5 M Potassium phosphate buffer, pH 7.8

KH ₂ PO ₄	6.8	g
K ₂ HPO ₄	8.7	g

Adjust pH utilizing both solutions, and make up the volume to 100 ml with distilled water.

10 mM GSSG

GSSG 0.006 g

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 1 ml and store at 4 $^{\circ}$ C in a dark place.

$1\ M\ H_2O_2$

30% H₂O₂ 1.01 ml

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 10 ml and store at 4 °C in a dark place.

133.3 mM Methionine

L-Methionine 2.0 g

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 100 ml.

30 mM MgCl₂

MgCl₂

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 100 ml.

1.5 mM NADPH

NADPH

0.001 g

0.3

g

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 1 ml and store at

4 °C in a dark place.

7.5 mM NBT

NBT 0.006 g

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 1 ml.

0.5 M Na₂CO₃

Na₂CO₃ 5.3 g

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 100 ml.

0.2 mM Riboflavin

Riboflavin

Dissolve in distilled water and make up the volume to 100 ml and in a dark place.

4. Measurement of DPPH radical scavenging activity

0.5 mM DPPH

DPPH

0.02 g

Dissolve in absolute ethanol and make up the volume to 100 ml and store at 4 °C in a dark bottle.

5. Preparation for protein determination by Bradford (1976)

Bradford solution

Coomassie Brilliant Blue (G250)	0.02	g
Absolute ethanol	10	ml

Stir the solution in Erlenmeyer flask protected from light for 2 hours then add 20 ml of 85% phosphoric acid. Bring the volume to 200 ml with distilled water and filter through Whatman filter paper. Store the solution in a brown glass bottle (usable for several weeks).

6. Preparation of NB medium

Reagents:

Final concentrations (1X)

	100X NB Nitrate stock 1 L			
	(NH4)2SO4	46.3	g	(463 mg/l)
	KNO3	283.0	g	(2,830
mg/l)				
	100X NB Sulfate stock 1 L			
	MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	18.5	g	(185 mg/l)
	MnSO4.H2O	1.0	g	(10 mg/l)
	ZnSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	200	mg	(2 mg/l)
	CHULALONGKORN I CuSO4.5H2O	JAIVERSITY 2.5	mg	(0.025 mg/l)
	100X NB Halide stock 1 L			
	CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ O	16.6	g	(166 mg/l)
	KI	75.0	mg	(0.75 mg/l)
	CoCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	2.5	mg	(0.025 mg/l)

100X NB PBMO stock 1 L

KH ₂ PO ₄	46.0	g	(460 mg/l)
H ₃ BO ₃	300	mg	(3 mg/l)
Na ₂ MoO ₄	25.0	mg	(0.25 mg/l)

100X NB NaFeEDTA stock 1 L

FeSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	2.78	g	(27.8 mg/l)
Na ₂ EDTA	3.78	g	(37.8 mg/l)

Nicotinic acid stock (1 mg/ml)

Dissolve 100 mg of nicotinic acid in sterilized deionized H2O, adjust volume to 100 ml. Filter sterilize the solution.

Pyridoxine stock (1 mg/ml)

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Dissolve 100 mg of pyridoxine in sterilized deionized H2O, adjust volume to 100 ml. Filter sterilize the solution.

Thiamine stock (1 mg/ml)

Dissolve 1 g of thiamine in sterilized deionized H2O, adjust volume to 100 ml. Filter sterilize the solution.

Mix the followings:

Final concentrations (1X)

100X NB Nitrate stock	10	ml	
100X NB Sulfate stock	10	ml	
100X NB Halide stock	10	ml	
100X NB PBMO stock	10	ml	
100X NB NaFeEDTA stock	10	ml	
Myo-inositol	100	mg	(100 mg/l)
Nicotinic acid stock (1 mg/ml)	1	ml	(1 mg/l)
Pyridoxine stock (1 mg/ml)	1	ml	(1 mg/l)
Thiamine stock (1mg/ml)	1	ml	(10 mg/l)
Casein hydrolysate	300	mg	(300 mg/l)
L-Proline	500	mg	(500 mg/l)
L-Glutamine	500	mg	(500 mg/l)
Sucrose	30	g	(30 g/l)

Adjust to pH 5.8 and add 8.0 g of agar, then make up the volume to 1 L with distilled water. Finally, autoclave for 20 minutes at 121 $^{\circ}$ C.
7. Limpinuntana's nutrient solution

Reagents:

Final concentrations (1X)

300X Solution A (1 L)					
KNO3	30.333 g	(0.10 g/l)			
Ca(NO ₃) ₂ .4H ₂ O	47.230 g	(0.16 g/l)			
300X Solution B (1 L)					
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	12.324 g	(41 mg/l)			
NH ₄ H ₂ PO ₄	11.502 g	(38 mg/l)			
NaCl	16.577 g	(55 mg/l)			
300X Solution C (1 L)					
FeSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	6 g	(20 mg/l)			
Na ₂ EDTA	8 g	(27 mg/l)			
300X Solution D (1 L)					
MnCl ₂ .4H ₂ O	0.4323 g	(1.44 mg/l)			
H ₃ BO ₃	0.3420 g	(1.14 mg/l)			
Na ₂ MoO ₄ .2H ₂ O	0.0075 g	(0.025 mg/l)			

ZnSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	0.0264 g	(0.088 mg/l)
CuSO ₄ .5H ₂ O	0.0117 g	(0.039 mg/l)

1X Limpinuntana's solution (300 ml)

Mix solution A, B, C and D together (1 ml each), then add deionized water to 300 ml and autoclave for 20 minutes at 121 °C.



Chulalongkorn University

APPENDIX B

Calculations

1. SOD activity

Specific activity = $\frac{1}{A_{560} \text{ (control)}/2}$ x A₅₆₀ (sample)

One unit of SOD activity was defined as the amount of enzyme required to cause 50% inhibition of the reduction of NBT monitored at 560 nm.

For example:

SOD activity of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

Specific activity	=	1	v 0
		0.9473/2	_ X U.
		0.9473/2	

SOD specific activity for 1 mg protein is 27.66 U/mg protein

 $A_{560 \text{ control}} = 0.9473, \ A_{560 \text{ sample}} = 0.6554$

2. CAT activity

Specific activity = $\frac{A_{240}}{\min x \text{ total volume } x 1,000}$ $\epsilon x \text{ protein content } (0.05 \text{ mg})$

One unit of CAT activity was defined as the amount of enzyme to reduce

1μmol of H₂O₂ per min at 240 nm (ε = 39.4 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹).

For example:

CAT activity of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

 $A_{240}/min = 0.1692$

Specific activity

 $\frac{0.1692 \text{ x } 1.2 \text{ ml x } 1,000}{39.4 \text{ mM}^{-1} \text{cm}^{-1} \text{ x } 0.05 \text{ mg}}$

103.07 µmol/min/mg protein

```
จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย
Chulalongkorn University
```

3. APX activity

Specific activity = $A_{290}/\text{min x total volume x 1,000}$ $\epsilon \text{ x protein content (0.05 mg)}$

One unit of APX activity was defined as the amount of enzyme to oxidize 1 μ mol of ascorbate per min at 290 nm ($\epsilon = 2.8 \text{ mM}^{-1}\text{cm}^{-1}$).

For example:

APX activity of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

 $A_{290}/min = 0.0383$

Specific activity

0.0383 x 1.2 ml x 1,000 2.8 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ x 0.05 mg

328.28 µmol/min/mg protein

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

4. GR activity

Specific activity = $\frac{A_{340}/\text{min x total volume x 1,000}}{\epsilon \text{ x protein content (0.05 mg)}}$

One unit of GR activity was defined as the amount of enzyme to reduce GSSG to GSH per min at 340 nm ($\epsilon = 6.22 \text{ mM}^{-1}\text{cm}^{-1}$).

For example:

GR activity of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

 $A_{340}/min = 0.0129$

Specific activity

0.0129 x 1.2 ml x 1,000 6.22 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹ x 0.05 mg

50.16 µmol/min/mg protein

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

5. Measurement of RGR

 $RGR = (lnW_f - lnW_i) / (t_f - t_i)$

where, W_f and W_i are the shoot and root dry weight of plant, t_f and t_i are the times and subscripts denote initial and final sampling that is, day 0 (before salt stress treatment) and day 3 (after 3 days salt stress treatment).

For example:

RGR of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

 $W_i = 0.022 \text{ g}, W_f = 0.025 \text{ g}$

 $RGR = (\ln 0.026 - \ln 0.021) / (3 - 0)$

 $= 0.07 \text{ g} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{d}^{-1}$

6. Measurement of RWC

 $RWC = [(W_i - W_d)/(W_f - W_d)] \times 100$

where, W_i is the leaf initial weight, W_f is the leaf fully turgid weight,

and W_d is the leaf dry weight.

For example:

RWC of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

 $W_i \ = \ 0.0040 \ g, W_f \ = \ 0.0043 \ g, W_d \ = \ 0.0003 \ g$

RWC =	[(0.0040-0.0003)/(0.0043-0.0003)] x 100
=	92.5 %

7. Measurement of photosynthetic pigments

Fotal chlorophyll (a and b) (mg/l)	=	17.90 (A ₆₄₇) + 8.08 (A ₆₆₄)
Chlorophyll a (mg/l)	=	12.70 (A ₆₆₄) - 2.79 (A ₆₄₇)
Chlorophyll b (mg/l)	=	20.70 (A ₆₄₇) – 4.62 (A ₆₆₄)
Carotenoids (mg/l)	=	A461 x 200

The pigment concentrations were calculated in mg/g FW of sample.

For example:

Photosynthetic pigments of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

 $A_{461} = 1.1106, A_{647} = 0.4251, A_{664} = 1.2101$

Total chlorophyll (a and b) (mg/l) = 17.90 (0.4251) + 8.08 (1.2101) = 17.39 mg/l

Chlorophyll a (mg/l) =12.70 (1.2101) - 2.79 (0.4251) = 14.18 mg/l

Chlorophyll b (mg/l) =20.70 (0.4251) - 4.62 (0.12101) = 3.37 mg/l

Carotenoids (mg/l) =1.1106 x 200 = 222.12 mg/l

Total chl $17.39 \text{ mg/l} = 17.39 \mu \text{g/ml}$

= 17.39 µg/0.05 g sample

=
$$347.8 \,\mu\text{g/g}$$
 sample

The total volume of extraction is 8 ml

Total chl =
$$347.8 \times 8$$

= $2782.4 \mu g/g$
= 2.78 mg/g FW

***For chl *a*, chl *b* and carotenoids, the results are calculated using the same method.



8. Measurement of lipid peroxidation

TBARS content= $(A_{532}-A_{600}) \times Vt \times Vr \times 100$ (µmol MDA equivalents g FW) $\epsilon \times Vs \times m$

where, Vt is the total volume of extract solution

Vr is the total volume of reaction mixture

Vs is the volume of the extract solution contain in the reaction mixture

m is the weight of sample

 ϵ is the extinction coefficient (155 mM⁻¹cm⁻¹)

For example:

MDA content of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3

days

 $A_{532} = 0.1547, A_{600} = 0.1013$

 TBARS content
 = $(0.1547-0.1013) \times 1 \text{ ml } \times 3 \text{ ml } \times 100$

 (µmol MDA equivalents g FW)
 155 x 0.075 ml x 0.05 g

 $= 0.028 \ \mu mol/g \ FW$

9. Measurement of DPPH radical scavenging activity

$$AA\% = \frac{(A_{control} - A_{test})}{A_{control}} \times 100$$

For example:

DPPH content of wild-type KDML105 plants under without salt (0 mM NaCl) for 3 days

 A_{517} control = 0.7596, A_{517} test = 0.6705





10. Calibration curve for protein content of standard BSA



11. Calibration curve of standard H₂O₂

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

VITA

Miss Taviporn Kaewneramit was born on December 29, 1988 in Samutsongkhram. She graduated with the degree of Bachelor of Science from Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Silpakorn University in 2011. She keeps on studying for Master degree of Science at the Biochemistry Program, Faculty of Science at Chulalongkorn University.



จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University